Aus dem Zentrum für Neurologie und Psychiatrie der Universität zu Köln Klinik und Poliklinik für Psychiatrie und Psychotherapie

Direktor: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. F. Jessen

The influence of a computerized social cognitive training on the functional connectivity of the brain in major depressive disorder

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung der Doktorwürde der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von Laura Völkel aus Kreuztal

promoviert am 06. Mai 2024

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

Dekan: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. G. R. Fink

- 1. Gutachter: Universitätsprofessor Dr. med. Dipl.-Psych. J. Kambeitz
- 2. Gutachter: Universitätsprofessor Dr. sc. hum. J. Koenig

Erklärung

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Bei der Auswahl und Auswertung des Materials sowie bei der Herstellung des Manuskriptes habe ich Unterstützungsleistungen von folgenden Personen erhalten:

Prof. Dr. Joseph Kambeitz

PD Dr. Lana Kambeitz-Ilankovic

Dr. Julian Wenzel

Weitere Personen waren an der Erstellung der vorliegenden Arbeit nicht beteiligt. Insbesondere habe ich nicht die Hilfe einer Promotionsberaterin/eines Promotionsberaters in Anspruch genommen. Dritte haben von mir weder unmittelbar noch mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertationsschrift stehen.

Die Dissertationsschrift wurde von mir bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt.

Der dieser Arbeit zugrunde liegende Datensatz wurde ohne meine Mitarbeit im Rahmen der PRONIA (Personalised Prognostic Tools for Early Psychosis Management) Studie in der Klinik für Psychiatrie und Psychotherapie der Ludwig-Maximilian-Universität in München erhoben und mir von Frau Dr. Kambeitz-Ilankovic zur Verfügung gestellt. Die in dieser Arbeit angegebene Datenauswertung ist nach entsprechender Anleitung durch Frau Dr. Kambeitz-Ilankovic und Herr Dr. Wenzel von mir selbst ausgeführt worden.

Erklärung zur guten wissenschaftlichen Praxis:

Ich erkläre hiermit, dass ich die Ordnung zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und zum Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten (Amtliche Mitteilung der Universität zu Köln AM 132/2020) der Universität zu Köln gelesen habe und verpflichte mich hiermit, die dort genannten Vorgaben bei allen wissenschaftlichen Tätigkeiten zu beachten und umzusetzen.

Köln, den 29.07.2023

Unterschrift:L.Vallul

Acknowledgement

First, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Joseph Kambeitz for giving me the opportunity to participate in his working group to provide an insight into the field of psychiatric research. Without his generous provision of knowledge, experience and resources this work would not have been possible. I would further like to express my special thanks to PD Dr. Lana Kambeitz-Ilankovic who has been my mentor and teacher through this whole journey. Her huge expertise, guidance and tireless support enabled me to accomplish this work, and I am especially thankful for her patience with all my problems and sorrows. Lana introduced me to the world of scientific working, and I admire her unlimited enthusiasm towards research. I am particularly grateful to Dr. Julian Wenzel for encouraging me with his extensive knowledge, kindness, and patience. Julian guided me through all the difficulties, and I highly appreciate his methodical expertise. My further thanks go to my colleagues in the prediction and prevention of mental health working group who kindly integrated me in the team, expanded my knowledge in multiple fields of psychiatric research and always offered a helping hand. Lastly, I am grateful to my family and all my friends who constantly encouraged me through this work. Your confidence and support gave me the strength to achieve this milestone in my life. To my parents, Nina, Luisa and Henning.

Table of contents

List of abbreviations							
1	Sum	mary	11				
	1.1	Deutsche Zusammenfassung	11				
	1.2	English abstract	14				
2	Intro	duction	17				
	2.1	Major depressive disorder	17				
	2.1.1	1 Definition and epidemiology	17				
	2.1.2	2 Etiology	17				
	2.1.3	3 Diagnosis	18				
	2.1.4	1 Therapy and prognosis	18				
	2.2	Cognition and psychosocial functioning as a raising topic in MDD	19				
	2.2.1	The effect of MDD on psychosocial functioning	19				
	2.2.2	2 The role of cognitive deficits in MDD	20				
	2.2.3	Cognitive training as a method of treatment in MDD	20				
	2.2.4	Sensory processing as potential marker for target engagement in CCT	22				
	2.3	Using neuroimaging in MDD	22				
	2.3.1	Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI)	22				
	2.3.2	2 Measuring rsFC in MDD	23				
	2.3.3	3 Neural correlates of CCT in MDD	24				
	2.4	Aims of the study	26				
3	Mate	erial and Methods	27				
	3.1	Study population	27				
	3.2	Study design	29				
	3.3	Training procedure	33				
	3.4	Distinct patterns of the SPC	35				
	3.5	Clinical and cognitive assessment	37				

	3.5.1	Clinical assessment	37
	3.5.2	Neuropsychological test battery	38
	3.6 N	Neuroimaging	42
	3.6.1	sMRI acquisition	42
	3.6.2	sMRI preprocessing	43
	3.6.3	rsfMRI acquisition	43
	3.6.4	rsfMRI preprocessing	43
	3.7 5	Statistical analysis of the behavioral data	46
	3.8 5	Statistical analysis of the neuroimaging data	48
	3.8.1	Generation of seed-based rsFC maps	48
	3.8.2	Statistical analysis of the seed-based rsFC maps	48
4	Result	S	50
	4.1 E	Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics	50
	4.1.1	SCT and TAU	50
	4.1.2	Maintainers and Improvers	52
	4.2 E	Effects of the SCT on cognition	55
	4.2.1	SCT and TAU	55
	4.2.2	Maintainers and Improvers	58
	4.3 E	Effects of the SCT on psychosocial functioning	62
	4.3.1	SCT and TAU	62
	4.3.2	Maintainers and Improvers	64
	4.4 E	Effects of the SCT on the rsFC	66
	4.4.1	SCT and TAU	66
	4.4.2	Maintainers and Improvers	70
	4.5 1	The relationship between the rsFC and cognition	73
	4.5.1	SCT and TAU	73
	4.5.2	Maintainers and Improvers	73
5	Discus	ssion	74

ę	5.1	Effects of the SCT on cognition and psychosocial functioning	74		
	5.1.	1 SCT and TAU	74		
	5.1.2	2 Maintainers and Improvers	75		
Į	5.2	Effects of the SCT on rsFC	77		
	5.2.7	1 SCT and TAU	77		
5.2.		2 Maintainers and Improvers	78		
Į	5.3	The Relationship between the rsFC and cognition	79		
	5.3.7	1 SCT and TAU	79		
	5.3.2	2 Maintainers and Improvers	79		
ţ	5.4	Conclusion	80		
Į	5.5	Limitations and future directions	30		
	5.5.	1 Limitations	30		
	5.5.2	2 Future directions	81		
6	6 References				
7	Appendix				
-	7.1	List of figures	95		
7.2		List of tables	96		
-	7.3	Tables of results of the Pearson's correlation tests.	97		
8	Pub	ublication of results			

List of abbreviations

AAL Automated anatomical labeling ADS-F/-B Auditory Digit Span Test - forward and backward version AMAP Adaptive Maximum A Posteriori AN Affective network ANCOVA Analysis of Covariance APA American Psychiatric Association BOLD Blood oxygenation level dependent BWT Brain Wavelet Toolbox CAT12 Computational anatomy toolbox 12 CBT Cognitive behavioral therapy CCN Cognitive control network CPT-IP Continuous Performance Test - Identical Pair Version CR Cognitive remediation CSF Cerebrospinal fluid DANVA Diagnostical Analysis of Non-verbal Accuracy Test DANVA-2-AF Diagnostic Analysis of Non-Verbal Accuracy - Adult Face Subtest DARTEL Diffeomorphic Anatomical Registration Through Exponentiated Lie algebra dIPFC Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex DMN Default Mode Network DSM-V Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - fifth edition DSST Digit Symbol Substitution Test ECT Electroconvulsive therapy EEG Electroencephalography EMT Emotion matching task EPI Echoplanar imaging FC Functional connectivity FD Framewise displacement fMRI Functional magnetic resonance imaging FU Follow-up FWE Family Wise Error GAF Global Assessment of Functioning GAF-D Global Assessment of Functioning - Disability score GAF-S Global Assessment of Functioning - Symptoms score GDP Gross domestic product GF General Functioning Score GF-R General Role Functioning GF-S General Social functioning GM Gray matter HDRS-17 Hamilton Depression Rating Scale - 17th version IQ Intelligence Quotient MCCB MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery MDD Major depressive disorder MFL Medial frontal lobe MMN Mismatch negativity MNI Montreal Neurological Institute MPRAGE Magnetization Prepared - Rapid Gradient Echo MRT Magnetresonanztomographie NIMH National Institute of Mental Health PANAS Positive and Negative Affect Scale PFC Medial prefrontal cortex RAVLT Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test

RCT Randomized controlled trial

REST Resting-state fMRI Data Analysis Toolkit

ROD Recent-onset depression

ROI Regions-of-interest

rsFC Resting-state functional connectivity

rsfMRI Resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging

SCID-4 Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition for Axis I Disorders

SFL Superior frontal lobe

sMRI Structural magnetic resonance imaging

SPC Sensory processing change

SPM-12 Statistical Parametric Mapping, version 12

SSRI Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

STL Superior temporal lobe

T0 Timepoint 0

tDCS Transcranial direct current stimulation

TE Time to Echo

TMT Trail Making Test

TMT-A Trail Making Test - Part A

TMT-B Trail Making Test - Part B

TR Repetition time

VFT-P Verbal Fluency Test - Phonemic Version

VFT-S Verbal Fluency Test - Semantic Version

vmPFC Ventromedial prefrontal cortex

WAIS Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale

WAIS-MR Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Matrices Subtest

WAIS-V Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Vocabulary Subtest

WFU PickAtlas Wake Forest University PickAtlas

WM White matter

1 Summary

1.1 Deutsche Zusammenfassung

Hintergrund Kognitive Defizite sind ein Kernthema der Major Depression (MDD) ^{1.2} und wirken sich auf multiple Bereiche des täglichen Lebens wie die Aufrechterhaltung von Beziehungen oder die Bewältigung der Anforderungen am Arbeitsplatz aus ³. Ein vielversprechender Ansatz bei der Behandlung von kognitiven Defiziten ist computer-basiertes kognitives Training (CCT) ^{1,4}. Diese Therapieform nutzt die Mechanismen der Neuroplastizität um Gehirnregionen, die der Kognition und den Emotionen unterliegen, umzustrukturieren und damit die kognitiven Einschränkungen von betroffenen Personen zu lindern und die Alltagsfunktionalität wiederherzustellen ^{1,5,6}. Die Programme von CCT zielen auf frühe Prozesse in der Verarbeitung von Sinneswahrnehmungen ab ⁶⁻⁸, wobei die Verarbeitung von sozial-relevanten Stimuli bei computer-basiertem sozial-kognitivem Training (SCT) im Vordergrund steht ⁸. In vorangegangenen Studien variierte jedoch die Ansprechrate auf CCT, sodass die Identifizierung von Indikatoren für die Trainingseffizienz und ein positives Ansprechen auf die Therapie Gegenstand aktueller Forschung ist ⁶. Hierbei wiesen erste Ergebnisse daraufhin, dass die Fähigkeit zur Verarbeitung von sensorischen Eindrücken ein potentielles Maß für die Trainingseffizienz und den Therapieerfolg von CCT darstellt ^{9,10}.

Ziele In dieser randomisiert-kontrollierten Studie (RCT) untersuchten wir den Effekt von computer-basiertem SCT auf (1) die Kognition und die Alltagsfunktionalität (2) die spontane funktionelle Konnektivität bestimmter Hirnregionen (dorsolateraler präfrontaler Kortex [dlPFC], Nucleus caudatus und Amygdala) im Ruhezustand des Gehirns (rsFC) und (3) die Beziehung zwischen kognitiven und neuralen Veränderungen im Vergleich zur Standardtherapie (TAU) bei der MDD. Darüber hinaus interessierte uns die Rolle der individuellen Verarbeitung von sensorischen Informationen, sodass wir die Auswirkungen von SCT auf die (1) Kognition und die Alltagsfunktionalität (2) die rsFC bestimmter Hirnregionen (dlPFC, Nucleus caudatus und Amygdala) und (3) die Beziehung zwischen kognitiven und neuralen Veränderungen in Gruppen mit unterschiedlicher sensorischer Sinnesverarbeitung analysierten.

Methodik Die Teilnehmer der Studie wurden mit Hilfe des Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition for Axis I Disorders (SCID-4) auf eine MDD hin gescreent. Eingeschlossene Probanden durchliefen eine klinische und kognitive Testung sowie eine kraniale Magnetresonanztomographie-Untersuchung (MRT) und wurden anschließend per Zufall der SCT- oder der TAU -Gruppe zugeteilt. Die SCT-Gruppe erhielt zusätzlich zur TAU ein computer-gestütztes SCT über einen Zeitraum von vier bis sechs Wochen und einer Gesamtdauer von 10 Stunden. Am Ende der Studie erhielten alle Teilnehmer eine zweite klinische und kognitive Testung sowie eine kraniale MRT- Untersuchung. Darüber hinaus wurden die Probanden der SCT-Gruppe anhand ihrer Leistung in der "Emotion matching task" (EMT) in "Maintainers" (intakte sensorische Verarbeitung) und "Improvers" (eingeschränkte sensorische Verarbeitung) eingeteilt. Um Gruppenunterschiede zwischen (1) der SCT- und der TAU-Gruppe und (2) Maintainern und Improvern bei der Kognition und der Alltagsfunktionalität über den Studienzeitraum hinweg festzustellen, verwendeten wir eine Kovarianzanalyse. Mit Hilfe der Statistical Parametric Mapping, version 12 (SPM-12) (https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm12/) version 6685 Software erstellten wir "Correlationmaps" der rsFC zwischen den zuvor festgelegten Gehirnregionen (dIPFC, Nucleus caudatus und Amygdala) und dem restlichen Gehirn um (1) den Effekt von SCT auf die rsFC verglichen mit TAU und (2) den Effekt von SCT auf die rsFC von Maintainern und Improvern zu untersuchen. Schließlich berechneten wir den Pearson's Korrelationsstest zur Überprüfung einer möglichen Assoziation zwischen neuralen und kognitiven Veränderungen.

Ergebnisse Das SCT zeigte in dieser Studie keinen zusätzlichen Nutzen für die Kognition oder die Alltagsfunktionalität von Personen mit einer MDD verglichen mit TAU. Bezogen auf die Fähigkeit zur Verarbeitung von Sinneseindrücken in der SCT-Gruppe, schnitten Maintainers zu Beginn der Studie im Bereich soziale Kognition signifikant besser ab (F = 1.72; p = 0.05), wohingegen Improvers über den Studienzeitraum die Effizienz der Verarbeitung sensorischer Informationen steigerten und sich im Bereich soziale Kognition signifikant verbesserten (F = 7.78; p = 0.01; η^2_G = 0.34). Maintainers profitierten hingegen im Bereich soziale Alltagsfunktionalität von dem SCT (GF-S: F = 5.42; p = 0.03; η^2_G = 0.27). Über den Studienzeitraum hinweg zeigten Teilnehmer in der SCT-Gruppe signifikant erhöhte rsFC zwischen dem rechten Nucleus caudatus und dem linken Lobus temporalis superior (STL) (pcorr. = <0.01) im Vergleich zur TAU-Gruppe. Dahingegen fanden wir in der TAU-Gruppe eine signifikant erhöhte rsFC zwischen dem rechten Nucleus caudatus und dem linken und rechten Lobus frontalis superior (SFL) (rechter SFL: p-corr. = 0.04; linker SFL: p-corr. = < 0.01) sowie dem rechten dIPFC und dem linken medialen Cingulum (p-corr. = <0.01) und dem rechten Precuneus (p-corr. = 0.02) im Vergleich zur SCT-Gruppe vom Beginn bis zum Ende der Studie. Bei dem Vergleich der Gruppen mit unterschiedlicher Effizienz der Verarbeitung sensorischer Informationen fanden wir in der Improver-Gruppe einen signifikanten Interaktionseffekt auf die rsFC zwischen der linken Amygdala und dem linken SFL (p-corr. = <0.01) und dem linken Lobus frontalis medialis (MFL) (p-corr.= <0.01) im Vergleich zu Maintainern über den Studienzeitraum hinweg. Auch in der Gruppe der Maintainer stellten wir eine signifikant erhöhte rsFC zwischen der linken Amygdala und dem linken MFL (p-corr. = < 0.01) von Anfang bis Ende der Studie, verglichen mit Improvern, fest. Die Analyse der Beziehung zwischen kognitiven und neuralen Veränderungen blieb sowohl für den Vergleich zwischen 1) SCT- und TAU-Gruppe und (2) Maintainern and Improvern ohne statistisch signifikante Ergebnisse.

Schlussfolgerung Den Ergebnissen unserer Studie zufolge erfordert die Beurteilung der Effektivität von SCT bei der MDD eine differenzierte Betrachtung der Studienteilnehmer, wobei sich die Verarbeitung von sensorischen Informationen als möglicher Mediator des Therapieansprechens herausstellte. So wirkte sich das SCT insbesondere bei Personen mit eingeschränkten sensorischen Verarbeitungsvermögen, welche ebenfalls schlechtere kognitive Fähigkeiten präsentierten, positiv auf die Verarbeitungseffizienz sowie die soziale Kognition aus. Entsprechend dieser Ergebnisse könnte die Messung der sensorischen Verarbeitungsgeschwindigkeit als Indikator für die Trainingseffizienz und das Therapieansprechen auf SCT hinsichtlich der Kognition und Alltagsfunktionalität dienen. Als mögliches Korrelat trainings-induzierter neuraler Veränderungen stellten wir unter SCT eine Verstärkung der rsFC zwischen Strukturen der emotionalen Informationsverarbeitung im Vergleich zu TAU fest. Da auch unter TAU signifikant erhöhte funktionale Konnektivität zwischen unterschiedlichen neuralen Netzwerken auftrat, sind jedoch weitere Studien zu Erforschung der neuralen Veränderungen unter SCT bei der Depression nötig. Die verstärkte funktionelle Konnektivität zwischen limbischen und frontalen Strukturen im Vergleich der Gruppen mit unterschiedlicher sensorischer Verarbeitungseffizienz unterstreicht dabei die Erkenntnisse vorangegangener Studien zur Rolle der fronto-limbischen neuralen Verbindungen bei der Pathophysiologie der Depression ¹¹, welche ein mögliches Ziel der neuroplastischen Effekte von SCT darstellt. Auch für die Analyse der Beziehung von kognitiven und neuralen Veränderungen unter SCT bei der Depression sind zukünftige Studien nötig.

1.2 English abstract

Background Cognitive impairment is common in major depressive disorder (MDD) ^{1,2} and influences multiple domains of daily living such as maintaining relationships or work performance ³. A promising approach that demonstrated an effect on cognitive deficits is computerized cognitive training (CCT) ^{1,4}. This therapy method induces neuroplastic changes in the brain representational system of cognitive and emotional processes to reduce cognitive impairment and reach functional recovery ^{1,5,6}. The exercises of CCT focus on early perceptual processes, whereby the processing of socially relevant stimuli is on the forefront in social cognitive training (SCT) interventions ⁶⁻⁸. However, treatment response to CCT varies between the participants, and current research shifted the attention towards the identification of behavioral and neural markers to measure the target engagement and to predict future outcome ⁶. Preliminary results now suggest the individual sensory processing behavior as a potential marker for target engagement and treatment response to CCT ^{9,10}.

Aims In this randomized controlled trial (RCT) we examined the effect of a computerized SCT on (1) the cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning (2) the rsFC of a priori selected brain regions (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex [dIPFC], caudate nucleus and amygdala) and the rest of the brain and (3) the relationship between the change in the cognitive performance and the rsFC as compared to TAU. We were further interested in the role of distinct patterns of sensory processing behavior and therefore analyzed the effect of a SCT on (1) the cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning (2) the rsFC of a priori selected brain regions (dIPFC, caudate nucleus and amygdala) and the rest of the brain and (3) the relationship between the change in the cognitive performance sensory processing behavior.

Methods Participants were screened for MDD with the SCID-IV. Included subjects (n=40) underwent a standardized clinical and cognitive assessment and a neuroimaging scan and were then randomized to the SCT or the TAU group. Participants in the former received a ten hours computerized SCT over four to six weeks additional to TAU. At the end of the study, both the clinical and the cognitive assessment and the neuroimaging scan were replicated, and participants in the SCT group were additionally classified as Maintainers (perceived baseline sensory processing efficiency) or Improvers (impaired baseline sensory processing efficiency) depending on the individual performance in the EMT. To examine group differences between (1) the SCT and the TAU group and (2) Maintainers and Improvers on the cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning from baseline to follow-up, we used an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). Correlation maps of the rsFC between the a priori selected brain regions (dIPFC, caudate nucleus and amygdala) and the rest of the brain were further

calculated with SPM-12 to investigate (1) the effect of the SCT on the rsFC of MDD patients as compared to TAU and (2) the effect of the SCT on the rsFC of Maintainers and Improvers across the study. Lastly, Pearsons's correlation tests were performed to analyze the association between the change in the rsFC and the cognitive performance in each group.

Results SCT did not show an additional effect on cognition or psychosocial functioning as compared to TAU in this study. However, Maintainers exhibited significantly higher scores on social cognition at baseline (F = 1.72; p = 0.05) while Improvers enhanced the sensory processing efficiency and showed significantly increased social cognitive abilities across the study (F = 7.78; p = 0.01; η^2_G = 0.34). Moreover, Maintainers showed significantly more benefit on a social functioning score (GF-S: F = 5.42; p = 0.03; η^2_G = 0.27). On the neural level, we found a significant increase of the rsFC between the right caudate and the left superior temporal lobe (STL) (p-corr. = <0.01) in the SCT group compared to TAU across the study. On the contrary, participants in the TAU group exhibited a significantly enhanced rsFC between the right caudate and the bilateral superior frontal lobe (SFL) (right SFL: p-corr. = 0.04; left SFL: p-corr. = < 0.01) as well as between the right dIPFC and the left medial cingulum (p-corr. = <0.01) and the right precuneus (p-corr. = 0.02) compared to SCT over the follow-up period. We further identified a significant group by time interaction on the rsFC between the left amygdala and the left SFL (p-corr. = < 0.01) and the left medial frontal lobe (MFL) (p-corr.= <0.01) in the Improvers group compared to Maintainers. Likewise, the rsFC between the left Amygdala and the left MFL (p-corr. = < 0.01) was significantly increased in the Maintainers group compared to Improvers across the study. There was neither a significant correlation between the cognitive and the neural changes in 1) the SCT and the TAU group nor 2) Maintainers and Improvers.

Conclusion The results of our study indicate that the effect of SCT on cognition and psychosocial functioning probably depends on individual characteristics of the participants whereby the sensory processing efficiency might be one of the mediators of therapy response. Consecutively, individuals with reduced sensory processing efficiency, who additionally presented impaired baseline cognitive functions, seem to benefit more clearly from SCT. Hereinafter the individual sensory processing efficiency might serve as a behavioral measure of target engagement to predict the treatment response to SCT. On the neural level, increased rsFC between neural structures that are integrated in the processing of emotional stimuli underline the potential of SCT to induce neuroplastic changes in the brain. Since we additionally identified altered rsFC between distributed brain regions in the TAU group over the follow-up period, further studies are needed to precisely identify the neuroplastic mechanism underlying SCT. However, the reorganization of fronto-limbic pathways, which plays an important role in the pathophysiology of depression ¹¹, might be an appropriate neural target

for cognitive training interventions. Finally, future studies on the relation of cognitive and neural changes after SCT in depression are needed.

2 Introduction

2.1 Major depressive disorder

2.1.1 Definition and epidemiology

MDD is a severe mental disease that affects more than 350 million people worldwide ^{12,13}. Mean lifetime prevalence is estimated at 13% in western countries with women being affected twice as frequently as men ^{14,15}. The typical age of onset of the first depressive episode is in the middle 20s, whereby the distribution varies from late adolescence to late adulthood ¹⁶. Affected individuals suffer from a depressed mood and a loss of interest, that are the key features of MDD according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders - fifth edition (DSM-V) ¹⁷.

MDD substantially contributes to the morbidity and mortality in the global society ¹⁶. Thus depression is listed as the main cause of life years lost to premature death and disability in developing countries ¹⁸ and counts the highest number of disability adjusted life years in the world ¹⁹. The societal burden of MDD is further emphasized by a study of Kessler, Akiskal ²⁰ who reported on a reduced work productivity and increased work absenteeism of patients affected by MDD which led to an annual mean loss of 27.2 workdays per ill worker and makes depression the most costly brain disorder, causing 33% of the total cost in Europe ²¹. Consecutively, the total annual cost of depression in Europe was estimated at 118 billion euros in 2004 which corresponds to 1% of the total economy of Europe (GDP) ²².

2.1.2 Etiology

To date, the exact etiology of MDD is not completely understood ²³. Recent findings suggest a multifactorial genesis of depression and highlight the role of both biological and psychological aspects ²⁴. From a neurochemical perspective, depressive symptoms seem to arise from a disruption of the interaction between multiple neural circuits ²⁵. Thus researchers observed that agents targeting the monoamine system by increasing the concentration of monoamine neurotransmitters (serotonin, norepinephrine) in the synaptic gap ³ lead to reduced depressive symptoms ²⁵ and consequently established the monoamine hypothesis ^{3,26}. This neurochemical hypothesis declares the deficiency of the monoamine system as a biological mechanism underlying depression ³. Additionally, epidemiological twin studies demonstrated a certain genetic risk for family members of affected individuals ²⁷.

More recently, the focus turned to the diathesis-stress-model which states that the development of depressive symptoms results from stress factors or stimuli (e.g. hormonal disturbances, somatic diseases, personal losses, interpersonal conflicts) that appear additionally to a premorbid personality ²⁸⁻³⁰. Abramson, Seligman ³¹ further established the

hopelessness theory of depression which "posits that repeated exposure to uncontrollable and aversive environmental stimuli leads gradually to the belief that the aversive situation is inescapable and a sense of helplessness ensues regarding the situation. This helplessness, in turn, results in depression" ³². According to this theory, the individual risk to develop a depression strongly depends on the causal attribution of negative life events in the dimensions of internal to external, stable to unstable and global to specific ³². Hence the risk to develop a depression significantly increases with an internal, stable and global attribution of negative events ³². Lastly, the cognitive triad first developed by Beck ³³, highlights three components of a person's belief-system that are: the self-perception, the environment and the future, and states that individuals with a negative attribution of new information to the mentioned domains develop a dysfunctional cognitive system that increases the risk for depression ³⁴.

2.1.3 Diagnosis

According to the DSM-V¹⁷, key features of MDD (a loss of interest and a depressed mood) must persist over a minimum period of two weeks. Other symptoms include:

- i. Significant weight loss or decrease or increase in appetite
- ii. In- or Hypersomnia
- iii. Impaired psychomotor activity
- iv. Fatigue or loss of energy
- v. Decreased ability to think or concentrate
- vi. Recurrent thoughts of death or suicide attempts
- vii. Feelings of worthlessness or inadequate guilt.

MDD is primarily diagnosed based on clinical characteristics. Nevertheless, any organic cause must be ruled out by neuroimaging, electroencephalography (EEG) or blood test in the first place. A major depressive episode is diagnosed if a minimum of five of the aforementioned criteria is reached.

2.1.4 Therapy and prognosis

The acute therapy of MDD targets both the reduction or remission of symptoms and the psychosocial and occupational rehabilitation ²³. Depending on the severity and the stage of the disease, the therapeutical approach includes low-intensity interventions (e.g. guided self-help, the strengthening of self-management and psychoeducation), psychotherapy, antidepressant medication, neurostimulation, psychosocial interventions or supplementary therapy (physical exercise therapy, phototherapy, peer support) ²³. Besides psychoeducation and the provision of information about the disease, low-intensity interventions, internet-based approaches or psychotherapy are in the forefront to treat patients with mild depression ²³. In contrast, S3-

guidelines recommend psychotherapy, antidepressant medication or the combination of both for the treatment of moderate to severe depression ²³.

The pharmacological mechanism of the majority of antidepressants relies on the neural monoamine system, whereby these agents increase the concentration of monoamine neurotransmitters in the synaptic gap ²³. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI), that increase the serotonerg neurotransmission of the central neural system by inhibiting the reuptake of serotonin in the synaptic gap, are the most frequently prescribed antidepressants in Germany ²³. However, the actual S3-guidelines prefer the combination of different treatment approaches rather than the sole use of antidepressant medication ²³.

Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), psychoanalytic approaches and systemic therapy are commonly used for the ambulant treatment of MDD patients ²³, whereby CBT is the most frequently examined psychotherapeutic intervention ²³. This therapy method reframes cognitive distortion and behavior, and introduces coping strategies and skills that can be used in challenging situations ²³. With regard to the selection of the best-fitting psychotherapeutic intervention, the S3-guidelines recommend a participative decision depending on the individual characteristics of the patient (e.g. the therapeutic relationship, the motivation and the perception of the patient, the therapy setting and the individual resources) ²³.

Despite these well-implemented therapies, MDD counts a chronicity rate of 20% ³⁵ and a mean number of 5 episodes per lifetime ³⁶. Moreover, patients often experience a relapse of the disease under treatment or do not recover completely ^{37,38}.

2.2 Cognition and psychosocial functioning as a raising topic in MDD

2.2.1 The effect of MDD on psychosocial functioning

Impaired psychosocial functioning is a common feature of MDD^{39,40}. Thus IsHak, Mirocha ⁴¹ observed that 90% of MDD patients suffer from functional disability while another 20% remain permanently incapacitated even after remission ⁴². Additionally, the mean disability score of remitted MDD patients is still above the score of healthy individuals ⁴³ (https://harmresearch.org/product/sheehan-disability-scale-sds-2/).

Psychosocial functioning is defined as "the degree to which individuals successfully interact with their environment across in daily, occupational, and social domains" ^{44,45} and includes interpersonal relationships ⁴⁶, everyday functioning ⁴⁷, home management ⁴⁸, employment status ⁴⁶ and occupational productivity ⁴⁶. Affected individuals struggle with day-to-day environmental and social tasks which results in problems with maintaining relationships or workforce performance ^{49,50}.

However, depressive symptomatology does not cover the entire magnitude of disability found in depression ⁵¹. Thus, Knight, Air ⁵² identified cognitive function as a mediator between symptom severity and functional disability. Buist-Bouwman, Ormel ⁵³ further observed that cognitive impairment leads to reduced psychosocial abilities and predicts functional outcome in MDD ⁵⁴. Thereby, several cognitive domains influence psychosocial functioning such as attention ⁵¹, verbal learning ¹⁸, psychomotor speed ⁵⁵, memory ⁵⁶, processing speed ¹⁸, executive functioning ¹⁸ and social cognition ⁵⁷.

2.2.2 The role of cognitive deficits in MDD

Cognitive deficits are often present in MDD ^{1,2}. Nearly two thirds of MDD patients experience cognitive impairment in the acute stage of the illness ⁵⁸ while deficits can also persist through remission ⁵⁹. These deficits include a wide range of domains such as working memory ⁵⁹, verbal learning ⁶⁰, psychomotor speed ⁶¹, attention ⁶², executive function ⁶² and social cognition ^{63,64}. While some cognitive domains (e.g. "working memory", "verbal fluency", "psychomotor speed" and "social cognition") were strongly associated with depressive symptom severity and the clinical state ^{58,65-67}, other domains showed a permanent decrease in remitted patients (e.g. "attention", "response inhibition" and "verbal fluency") ⁶⁸⁻⁷¹.

The consequences of cognitive impairment are far-reaching ⁷² since it leads to an increased chronicity rate ⁷³ and heightens the risk of relapse of depression ⁷⁴. However, cognitive impairment remains an unmet need in the conventional therapy of MDD ⁵⁸. In a study of Potter, Kittinger ⁷⁵ verbal perseveration among depressed older adults was associated with a lower remission rate after a pharmacological treatment. Moreover, subtle prefrontal dysfunction in MDD patients predicted poor treatment response to fluoxetine ⁷⁶, and impaired attention was associated with delayed response to pharmacological treatment ⁷⁴. Likewise, a certain number of MDD patients did not successfully respond to cognitive therapy in a study of DeRubeis, Hollon ⁷⁷.

2.2.3 Cognitive training as a method of treatment in MDD

A promising approach that targets cognitive impairment is cognitive remediation (CR)⁷⁸⁻⁸¹. This therapy method was defined by the Cognitive Remediation Experts Workshop (Florence, Italy, April 2010) as "a behavioral training-based intervention that aims to improve cognitive processes (attention, memory, executive function, social cognition or metacognition) with the goal of durability and generalization" ⁸². The interventions are specifically designed cognitive learning events that reduce cognitive impairment and improve a broad range of functionally relevant domains to reach functional recovery ^{1,5,83}. The effectiveness of CR is based on neuroplastic mechanisms that target impaired neural systems underlying cognitive processes and induce neural changes in the brain representational system ⁶. The idea of CR is to identify

and target key neural systems that enhance cognition and community functioning with the ultimate goal to develop a personalized cognitive training program that may serve as a preventive intervention ⁶.

A widely accessible form of the CR technique is CCT ⁸⁴. This therapy method uses software to train and improve cognitive functions, whereby one single or an array of cognitive domains can be aimed ⁸⁵. The composition of CCT relies on scientific principles of learning and encompasses computerized structured drills and practice-related tasks ^{84,86}. Thereby, the extent of the conducted CCT varies from target specific exercises to broadly-applied programs with heterogenous activities ⁸⁴. Since CCT was the most effective when combined with another treatment, rather than implemented on its own, growing evidence suggests to add CCT to the standard therapy of patients affected by physical or mental illnesses with impaired cognitive processes ^{84,87-89}. The benefits of CCT are emphasized by its immense potential to overcome specific barriers of conventional therapy "including cost, transportation, lack of available providers or insurance, and long waitlists for services, as well as reduced stigma and more privacy" ^{84,90}.

Recent research demonstrates a significant effect of CCT on cognitive impairment in mental disorders ^{1,4,91,92}. In a study of Elgamal, McKinnon ⁴ CCT significantly improved psychomotor speed, verbal learning and executive function. Motter, Pimontel ¹ further reported a significant decline of disability in attention, working memory and global functioning. Besides cognitive restoration, CCT additionally improved everyday functioning and depressive symptom severity ⁹²⁻⁹⁴. Mounting evidence now points towards a rather short and frequent form of cognitive training ^{84,95}, although a general consensus on the optimal duration, frequency and degree of individualization of CCT is still missing ⁵⁸.

The exercises of CCT are adaptive and grounded on basic principles of neuroplasticity ⁷, that is defined as the change in the dimension of recruited neuronal populations and coherence in response ⁹⁶. Neuroplasticity underlies cortical remapping, which is caused by behaviorally important experiences through life and follows alterations of peripheral input ⁹⁶. Buonomano and Merzenich ⁹⁶ further declared that the cortical representational reorganization correlates with the learning process and stated that the ability of the brain to allocate certain areas to selected inputs is crucial for perceptual learning. Consecutively, mental illnesses are suggested to be a result of maladaptive learning about behaviorally important input resulting in a distorted neural representation of cognitive and emotional processes ⁶. On a neural level, CCT induces neuroplastic changes related to learning that improve cortical representation and reduce internal brain noise ⁶. Thereby, the designed exercises focus on early perceptual processes to refine fundamental processing abilities and improve the speed and accuracy of

task-related information processing ^{6-8,92}. A relatively new form of cognitive training therapy is computerized SCT ⁹. This approach shifts the attention towards the processing of socially relevant stimuli and targets "affect perception, social cue perception, theory of mind and attributable style" ⁸.

2.2.4 Sensory processing as potential marker for target engagement in CCT

Recent research in the field of cognitive training therapy shifted the focus towards moderators and mediators of CCT that might account for the variability of treatment response as well as the identification of measurable markers for target engagement ⁶. In a study of Biagianti, Fisher ¹⁰, the individual "ability to generate and sustain sensory processing efficiency in the auditory system" of participants with schizophrenia was significantly associated with the degree of cognitive improvement after an auditory system training. Thereby, specific patterns of sensory processing behavior (time to reach a plateau of auditory processing speed) were correlated with greater cognitive gains after the training procedure ¹⁰. In line with these findings, Melissa Fisher, Christine Holland⁹⁷ et al. observed that the individual psychophysical learning capacity of participants with schizophrenia models the response to cognitive training, whereby subjects with the most progress in basic psychophysical auditory exercises showed the greatest improvement in general cognitive abilities. Consecutively, Biagianti, Fisher ¹⁰ suggested that the intrinsic sensory learning behavior (e.g. "auditory processing speed") could serve as a behavioral measure of target engagement for treatment response to CCT. Kambeitz-Ilankovic, Wenzel⁹ was the first study that used different patterns of sensory processing to model target engagement during SCT in patients with psychosis. They observed that participants with perceived pretreatment sensory processing showed improved abilities in emotion recognition after the intervention, while those with impaired sensory processing at baseline could not transfer training engagement into cognitive improvement.

2.3 Using neuroimaging in MDD

2.3.1 Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI)

fMRI measures changes in the blood oxygenation level-dependent (BOLD) signal to reproduce neuronal brain activity ⁹⁸ and " is now the method of choice to examine brain behavior relationships" ⁹⁹. Thereby, the BOLD signal uses the endogenous deoxyhemoglobin as a source of contrast based on the magnetic properties of ferrous irons that are included in deoxyhemoglobin ⁹⁹. The distribution of oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin depends on the local metabolic demand and blood supply, whereas greater demands result in a higher inflow of oxygenated blood and lead to an elevated BOLD signal ^{99,100}. Assuming that neural activity increases the metabolic demand ⁹⁹, changes in the BOLD signal reflect neural activity and allow for a regional and global mapping of activated brain regions in different states ¹⁰⁰.

An advantage of fMRI is its repeatability which allows a high signal-to-noise-ratio within subjects ⁹⁹ and the possibility to link the fMRI scans to high resolution structural images acquired in the same session to identify activated regions and facilitate the spatial transformation ⁹⁹.

2.3.2 Measuring rsFC in MDD

Resting state functional magnetic resonance imaging (rsfMRI) "is a fundamental tool in characterizing brain network alterations in mental disorders" ^{101,102}. This approach presumes that patients lie still in the scanner with their eyes closed to reach a continuous state of rest ¹⁰³. Thus spontaneous low-frequency neural oscillations with spatiotemporal correlation between different brain regions can be detected that define functionally connected networks 98 (see Figure 1). rsfMRI is often used in studies with mentally affected participants that are not able to perform cognitive tasks on a satisfying level ¹⁰³. Moreover, rsfMRI is particularly appropriate for depressive disorder due to the omnipresent and persistent nature of depressive symptoms including continuous ruminations throughout the day ¹⁰⁴. A common technique of rsfMRI is the regions-of-interest (ROI)-based approach ¹⁰⁵, whereby functional connectivity (FC) maps of the temporal correlation of BOLD time series between a priori selected brain regions (seed regions or regions of interest) and the rest of the brain are extracted. Hence a voxel-wise connectivity map of covariance between the seeds and all other brain regions is created. The ROI-based approach benefits from its simple comparability and its straightforward interpretation ¹⁰⁵. Recent findings in MDD support rsfMRI research since different symptom profiles were associated with varied patterns of brain activation ^{106,107} and the underlying pathology of MDD was declared to depend on altered functional neural networks rather than on isolated brain regions ¹⁰⁸.



Figure 1 Visualization of the generation of rsfMRI data. Echoplanar imaging (EPI) series map the BOLD time course in each voxel of the brain. Tc = time course. From Deco and Kringelbach ¹⁰²

2.3.3 Neural correlates of CCT in MDD

With the help of neuroimaging, recent studies examined the effect of CCT on the neuroplasticity of the brain ¹⁰⁹. In a meta-analysis of Isaac and Januel ¹⁰⁹ the majority of included studies showed a significant increase of frontal ¹¹⁰⁻¹¹⁴ and limbic activity ^{110,115} after CR therapy in schizophrenia. For example, Subramaniam, Luks ¹¹² found a significantly increased tasked-based fMRI activity of frontal regions in participants with schizophrenia after a CCT intervention that was correlated with improved cognitive abilities. Kral, Schuyler ¹¹⁶ further observed an increased FC between the amygdala and the ventromedial prefrontal cortex (vmPFC) after a short-term cognitive training in healthy adults, while Bor, Brunelin ¹¹⁰ reported on an increased tasked-based activity in both frontal regions and the cingulate gyrus after CR therapy in patients with schizophrenia. Comparable results were observed by Meusel, Hall ¹¹⁷ who detected an increased activity of the lateral and medial prefrontal cortex (PFC) and the superior temporal lobe after a cognitive training intervention in a sample with individuals affected by mood disorders.

The neural prefrontal circuitry of the brain underlies emotional and cognitive processes ^{72,118-124} and is often summarized to a fronto-parietal control network (cognitive control network [CCN]) that consists mainly of the dIPFC and the inferior parietal lobe ¹²⁵. The dIPFC plays a primary role in the pathology of depression ¹²⁶ and its altered activity is strongly associated with impaired cognition ¹²⁶⁻¹²⁹, whereby especially the right PFC seems to function poorly ¹³⁰. In addition, an abnormal connectivity of a prefrontal-amygdala-pallidostriatal-medio-thalamic mood-regulating circuit is proposed, that is associated with reduced emotion processing and response capabilities ¹²¹. The amygdala and the striatum are parts of the affective network (AN) ¹³¹ that underlies the processing of emotional and rewarding stimuli ^{131,132} by shifting the attention away from emotional content ¹³³ and impacts the perception and social behavior ¹³⁴.

With respect to neuroplastic changes that are associated with the effectiveness of CCT, Hooker, Bruce ¹³⁵ observed that increased postcentral gyrus activity in task-based fMRI after a combined CCT and SCT predicted the behavioral improvement on a standardized test of emotion processing (MSCEIT: Perceiving Emotions) ¹³⁶ among patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, greater deficits in Mismatch negativity (MMN), an event-related potential that represents automatic auditory deviance processing, predicted greater improvement in global cognition after an auditory training in patients with schizophrenia-spectrum illness in a study of Biagianti, Roach ¹³⁷. Greater MMN amplitudes were additionally associated with a stronger improvement in the auditory processing efficiency after an auditory cognitive training in patients with schizophrenia in a study of Perez, Tarasenko ¹³⁸ and suggested as a potential biomarker for target engagement during CCT. However, there is still little knowledge about the key neural

systems that can be targeted by CCT to induce broad neural changes and that might even predict treatment outcome in depression ⁶.

2.4 Aims of the study

In this RCT we examined:

- i. The effect of a computerized SCT on cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning as compared to TAU.
- ii. The effect of the SCT on the rsFC between a priori selected brain regions (dIPFC, caudate nucleus and amygdala) and all the other voxels of the brain as compared to the TAU group.
- iii. The relationship between the change in the cognitive performance and the rsFC in the SCT and the TAU group.

We were additionally interested in the effect of the SCT on participants with distinct patterns of sensory processing. The following aims were:

- i. To examine the effect of the SCT on cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning between groups with different patterns of sensory processing.
- ii. Further to compare the effect of the SCT on the rsFC between the aforementioned ROIs and all the other voxels of the brain between groups with different patterns of sensory processing.
- iii. Lastly, to investigate the relationship between the change in the cognitive performance and the rsFC of the brain of participants with different patterns of sensory processing.

We hypothesized that participants in the SCT group would show a stronger improvement in cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning at the follow-up as compared to participants in the TAU group. We further suggested an increase of the rsFC in the SCT group as compared to the TAU group after the intervention, that might be reflected by a strengthening of the FC of fronto-limbic-mesostriatal neural circuits. The increase of rsFC in the SCT group, in turn potentially correlates with changes in the cognitive or functional performance and hence represent a biomarker for training response to SCT in MDD.

Moreover, we expected that participants with preserved pretreatment sensory processing would benefit more clearly from the SCT in terms of cognitive and functional outcome as compared to participants with impaired pretreatment sensory processing, and that these differences in the response to the SCT would be accompanied by distinct patterns of rsFC. Lastly, there might be a relationship between changes in the sensory processing behavior, cognitive performance and rsFC patterns that underlines the role of the sensory processing behavior as a potential marker for target engagement during SCT.

3 Material and Methods

3.1 Study population

Recruitment took place at the Early Detection and Intervention Center at the Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy of the Ludwig-Maximilian-University in Munich. All subjects were screened for MDD with the SCID-4^{139,140}. We included all participants who met the criteria of an ongoing first episode of MDD according to DSM-IV¹⁴¹ with an onset in the past three months. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study are listed in Table 1. The study was designed in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and approved by the Local Research Ethics Committee of the Ludwig-Maximilian University. All participants signed a written informed consent.

Table 1: General inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study. Adapted from Haas ¹⁴²

General Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria

- 1. Age between 15 and 40 years
- 2. Good general physical health
- 3. Sufficient capacity to provide informed consent
- 4. Sufficient language skills for participation
- 5. First major depressive episode
 - a. Symptoms must persist over a minimum period of two weeks
 - b. ≥ 5 symptoms according to the DSM-IV whereby one symptom must be anhedonia or a depressed mood
- 6. Symptom onset within the past 3 months with a maximal duration of 24 months

Exclusion criteria

- 1. Intelligence Quotient (IQ) below 70
- 2. Insufficient hearing for neuropsychological testing
- 3. Current or past head trauma with a loss of consciousness (> 5 minutes)
- 4. Current or past neurological brain disorder
- 5. Current or past somatic disorder potentially affecting the brain structure or functioning
- 6. Current or past alcohol dependency
- 7. Current polytoxicomania or polytoxicomania within the past six months
- 8. > 1 major depressive episode in lifetime
- Current antipsychotic medication (> 30 cumulative days in life time) or within three months prior to the study at or above the minimum dosage of the '1st episode psychosis' recommendations of the DGPPN S3 Guidelines ²⁴
- 10. MRI eligibility criteria were not met

3.2 Study design

Participants who were included into the study (n=40) underwent a standardized clinical and cognitive assessment as well as a structural and functional neuroimaging scan. They were then randomized to the intervention group that received a ten hours computerized SCT over four to six weeks (30 minutes per session; 4-5 days per week) additional to TAU (SCT group) (n=23) or to the control group obtaining TAU (TAU group) (n=17). The first three sessions of the SCT were supervised by trained research personnel while the following sessions were continued at the clinic or at home. A quiet room and headphones were provided. To ensure compliance with the training protocol and to provide potential technical support, the pseudo-anonymized training data was monitored on the brain hq platform additionally to the research staff. Six participants did not complete the study and one additional participant was excluded due to not fulfilling criteria for MDD. After five weeks, 33 participants completed the follow-up clinical and neurocognitive assessment alongside a neuroimaging scan. A visualization of the study design can be found in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Description of the study design. MRI protocol obtained in addition. ROD = recent-onset depression; sMRI = structural magnetic resonance imaging. Adapted from Haas ¹⁴².

Subsequently, we excluded two participants from the analysis because they exceeded the threshold for mean framewise displacement (FD) parameters that were calculated to control for movement artifacts in the scanner. Participants in the SCT group were classified as Improvers (n=7) and Maintainers (n=10) based on the individual pattern of sensory processing change (SPC) after completion of the intervention (see chapter 3.4). A flowchart of the study sample can be found in Figure 3.



Figure 3: Flowchart of the study sample.

3.3 Training procedure

We used the 'Social Ville Program', which was developed by the Posit Science Inc. primarily to improve cognitive deficits in patients with schizophrenia, to conduct the SCT ¹⁴³. Training sessions consisted of four computerized exercises aimed to improve the accuracy and speed of neuronal processes that are integrated in the social interaction, especially attention, working memory and the perception of social stimuli (visual and vocal affect perception and social cue perception). Each exercise was structured in blocks (2-4) with 30-60 trials. A description of the exercises can be found in Table 2 (see Figure 4 for a visualization of the program).



Figure 4: Visualization of the Social Ville Program. Four computerized exercises ("Face recognition", "Emotion matching task", "Gaze match", "Cognitive control task") were conducted in 30 min. sessions. From Haas ¹⁴².

Exercise	Trials/ iteration	Description	Target
Face recognition	20	Select the matching facial expression to a prior presented face out of a set of possible answers (Speeded face matching task)	Processing of facial characteristics.
Emotion matching task	20	Select the face with the emotion similar to the target face (Speeded facial emotion matching task)	Make implicit speeded decisions about facial emotion features.
Cognitive control task	60	A continuous performance task with facial expressions: inhibiting the response to neutral expressions (10% of trials) while responding only to emotional facial expressions (90% of trials)	Differentiate between emotional and neutral facial expressions.
Gaze Match	40	Recognize the direction of view in a presented face (speeded gaze matching task)	Identification of the eye gaze direction of a counterpart.

Table 2: Description of the exercises of the Social Ville Program. Adapted from Haas ¹⁴².

Early blocks used more obvious, example-like stimuli to consolidate fundamental processes of encoding by synchronizing brain response, while later blocks presented naturalistic stimuli with increasing difficult discrimination to approximate to the real-world performance. The difficulty was constantly adapted to the individual performance by a statistically optimal Bayesian approach to maintain a performance level of 80-90 percent correct answers. Dimensions used to increase the difficulty were (1) stimulus complexity; (2) number of response alternatives, both altered between blocks, and (3) stimulus and response representation time that could differ within blocks. If the algorithm detected a lack of performance improvement, the block was terminated and switched to a more easy or difficult one. Therefore, each participant completed a different number of blocks depending on the individual performance (score of the first training session) and (2) best performance (best score reached through the total duration of training). Correct answers were rewarded with points and animations. If participants chose incorrect answers, a negative sound and the correct answer were presented. Additionally, the

participants received feedback after each training session. Previous studies describe the training procedure in detail ^{9,143,144}.

3.4 Distinct patterns of the SPC

In order to examine differential patterns of the SPC in the SCT group, we chose to study the EMT as the best fitting proxy to capture the ability of processing basic social information in social circumstances. The exercise is designed to improve the ability to make implicit speeded decisions about facial expressions. To model the SPC, we chose one block that was (1) completed at least once by all participants and (2) provided the largest amount of block repetitions per participant. The SPC on this exercise was calculated by dividing the difference between the subject-specific best and the baseline performance within that block, deviated by the standard deviation of the baseline performance for that block across all study participants (see Figure 5). Participants with a greater delta were those who showed an impaired performance at baseline and improved over training procedure, while a lower delta implied perceived EMT performance. Subjects were then dichotomized into Maintainers (n=10) and Improvers (n=7) by the median split of the SPC score. Improvers are participants who showed an impaired performance at baseline and reached the optimal EMT threshold (~31ms) during the training, while Maintainers showed intact EMT performance at baseline (~31ms) and sustained the optimal psychophysical threshold throughout the training experience.


Figure 5: Visualization of the classification of Maintainers and Improvers by the SPC.

3.5 Clinical and cognitive assessment

The standardized clinical and cognitive assessment was provided by trained research personnel.

3.5.1 Clinical assessment

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II)

In the present study, we used the revised second version of the BDI to test depression severity ¹⁴⁵. The BDI is a self-questionnaire with 21 items representing symptoms or characteristics associated with depression and respectively 4 answer alternatives scored from 0 to 3 points. Depression severity is evaluated by the sum score of all items with a minimum score of 0 points and a maximum score of 63 points. Cutoffs are defined as follows: 0-12 no depression; 13-19 mild depression; 20-28 moderate depression, 29-63 severe depression ²⁴.

Structured Clinical Interview for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (SCID)

The SCID ¹⁴⁶ is a diagnostic screening instrument for mental disorders that are listed in the DSM-IV and was published by the American Psychiatric Association (APA) ^{141,147}. The interview starts with a short, less structured exploration of biosocial information and actual symptoms, followed by a well-structured part of 10 sections representing all mental disorders listed in the first axis. Answers are coded from unsure to certainly present. The Interview can be used for stationary and ambulant patients and has a total duration of about 100 minutes.

Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)

The GAF is a questionnaire that measures the impairment in daily life activities of patients suffering from mental disorders ¹⁴⁸. The questionnaire includes the categories: psychological, social and occupational functioning assessed by a clinician or interviewer. The scale reaches from 0 to 100 points with higher scores going along with less impairment in general functioning and less symptoms. The scale is further divided in ten equal parts categorized by specific characteristics of symptoms and the level of functioning (e.g. 100-91: Superior functioning in a wide range of activities and no symptoms; 10-1: persistent danger of severely hurting self or others or persistent inability to maintain minimal personal hygiene or serious suicidal act with clear expectation of death) ^{141,149}. In the present study, we subdivided the GAF questionnaire in the categories: GAF-symptoms (GAF-S) and GAF-disability (GAF-D) to differentiate more precisely between effects of SCT on symptom severity and the level of daily functioning.

General Role Functioning (GF-R) and General Social Functioning (GF-S)

The General Functioning (GF) questionnaire is an additional measurement for daily life performance that was first developed to examine the prodromal dysfunction in social and occupational domains. Previous studies in patients with an Attenuated Positive Symptom prodromal syndrome observed that role functioning increased over the therapy while social functioning remained relatively stable across the time. They concluded that the level of role functioning could be seen as an indicator of success of the therapy, and the level of social functioning as a predictor of a subsequent mental disorder ¹⁵⁰. Based on these findings we added the GF-R and the GF-S questionnaire to the clinical assessment.

3.5.2 Neuropsychological test battery

The neuropsychological test battery consisted of nine tests that were based on the cognitive domains determined in the MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery (MCCB) established by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) initiative ¹⁵¹. This test battery was shown to measure the key cognitive domains relevant to schizophrenia and related disorders ¹⁵². In the present study, we focused on the cognitive domains: social cognition, verbal learning, working memory, speed of processing, attention and global cognition. These domains were defined as follows: "social cognition" was calculated from the score of correct answers in the Diagnostical Analysis of Non-verbal Accuracy Test (DANVA). The domain "speed of processing" was made up by dividing the difference between the score of the Verbal Fluency Test – Semantic Version (VFT-S) and the sum of the Trail Making Test – Part A (TMT-A) and the Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST) by the number of included tests. Next, we divided the sum score of the Auditory Digit Span Test - forward and backward version (ADS-F/-B) by two to receive "working memory". "Verbal learning" was calculated based on the Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT) and "attention" was made by subtracting the number of errors from the number of correct answers in the Continuous Performance Test - Identical Pair Version (CPT-IP). Lastly, "global cognition" was calculated by the mean sum of all previous described cognitive domains. Hereinafter the utilized tests are listed in Table 3.

Cognitive domains	Neuropsychological Test	Appliance
Social Cognition	Diagnostic Analysis of Non-Verbal Accuracy (DANVA)	Tablet-based
Working Memory	Auditory Digit Span (ADS)	
	Forward trials (-F)	Tablet-based
	Backward trials (-B)	Tablet-based
Speed of Processing	Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST)	Paper and Pencil
	Verbal Fluency (VF): Semantic trials (-S)	Paper and Pencil
	Trail Making Test- Trial A (TMT-A)	Paper and Pencil
Verbal Learning	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT)	Tablet-based
Attention	Continuous Performance Test, Identical Pairs version (CPT-IP)	Tablet-based
Premorbid IQ	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Vocabulary (WAIS-V)	Paper and Pencil
	Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Matrices (WAIS-MR)	Paper and Pencil

Table 3: The neuropsychological assessment and the composition of the cognitive domains. Adapted from Köhler and Koutsouleris ¹⁵³

Diagnostical Analysis of Non-verbal Accuracy (DANVA) – 2nd Version

First developed in 1989 by Nowicki and Duke ¹⁵⁴, the DANVA is a psychological test instrument that measures emotional processing. We used the Adult Faces-subtest of the second version of the DANVA (DANVA-2-AF) for our study. The test was conducted via tablet and consisted of 24 items presented as images of adult faces. Participants had to evaluate each item on the emotional expression (happiness, sadness, anger or fear).

Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST)

The DSST is a part of multiple psychological test batteries used to determine cognitive impairment across a wide range of cognitive domains (e.g. "Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale", "MCCB") ¹⁵⁵. The test is conducted in a paper-and-pencil format whereat participants are asked to register a matching symbol, defined in a key above, to each number in a row. The total duration is restricted to 90 seconds and the participant's performance is represented in a score calculated by the time and the number of correct matches.

Continuous Performance Test – Identical Pairs Version (CPT-IP)

The CPT measures the ability to sustain selected attention ¹⁵⁶. The identical pairs version of the CPT detects the capacity to attend to a continuous presented stimuli, configured as strings of four digits, that are presented via tablet with a short presentation time ¹⁵⁷. Participants were instructed to press on the left mouse button if two identical digits strings were presented consecutively and to not react to non-identical stimuli. The total amount of stimuli was 300 with 20% target stimuli (two identical consecutive digits strings) and 20% of catch-stimuli (two consecutive strings that were almost identical). All other stimuli were randomly generated by an algorithm (filler-stimuli). The program detected both the number of correct (both reaction to identical strings and no reaction to filler stimuli) and false answers as well as the reaction time for correct answers.

The Semantic/ Phonemic Verbal Fluency Task (VFT-S and VFT-P)

First developed in 1968, the Semantic and Phonemic Verbal Fluency Task measures language production and detects cognitive impairment in participants with a wide range of neurological and psychological diseases ¹⁵⁸ ¹⁵⁹. The idea of the test is to let participants associate as many terms as possible to a given task in a predefined time range. For the semantic version, participants were asked to name as many terms as possible in a specific category, which was the category "animals" in our study. In the phonemic task, participants had to tell as many nouns as possible starting with the same letter, in our case it was the letter "S". The time for

both tasks was set to 60 seconds. Answers were documented twice, once by the examiner and once by a program on the tablet and adjusted after the assessment. We used the amount of correct, repeated and false terms for the evaluation.

The Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (RAVLT)

The RAVLT is a commonly used neuropsychological test instrument to evaluate the ability of processing verbal information and working memory ^{160,161}. Within the test, two lists (list A and list B) with respectively 15 nouns were presented to the participant by an audio file on the tablet computer. At the beginning of the test, the participant listened to list A and directly recalled as many words as possible. The examiner noted the number of correct repeated words without paying attention to the order or repetition of words. After repeating the audio presentation of list A for five times, a second list of 15 nouns (list B) was presented to the participant. This list was used as an interference exercise and the participant had to list as many nouns as possible of list B. Afterwards, the participant was asked to repeat as many terms as possible from list A and then again after a delay of 20 minutes. The number of correct repeated words was again noted for each trial by the examiner.

The Forward and Backward Digit Span Test (F-DST and B-DST)

The F-DST and the B-DST ¹⁶² are used as indicators for the efficiency and the capacity of attention and working memory ¹⁶³. Starting with the presentation of a sequence of numbers, the participant is then asked to repeat the numbers in the forward (F-DST) or the backward direction (B-DST). In our study, we used an auditory presentation of numbers (recorded male voice) played by a tablet. If the participant responded to two series of numbers correctly, the program automatically added an additional number to the digit span. The test was terminated if the participant gave the wrong sequence of numbers two times consecutively. For the evaluation, we choose two test values (1) the maximum digit string length reminded at least once and (2) the number of correct trials. The test duration was 5 to 10 minutes depending on the individual performance of the participant.

Trail Making Test - Part A (TMT-A) and Part B (TMT-B)

The Trail Making Test (TMT), which is separated into two different parts "TMT-A" and "TMT-B", serves as a screening instrument for cognitive brain function of children and adults ¹⁶⁴. It especially measures attention and sensory processing in the TMT-A and executive functioning in the TMT-B ¹⁶³ ¹⁶⁵. Both parts were conducted in a paper- and pencil-format with an example and a test exercise for each part. After running through the explanation, the participant was asked to connect 25 circles with numbers in ascending order for part A and alternately 13 circles of numbers and 13 circles of letters in ascending and alphabetical order (e.g. "1-A-2-B-

3-C") for part B. The time was measured for both parts separately and the participant was not allowed to lift the pen or to turn the paper during the task. The examiner had the instruction to directly correct the participant if the circles were connected in the wrong order without stopping the time. The test results were scored by the time needed to finish the exercises, the number of violations and the number of errors. The rating scale reached from "perfectly normal" to "moderately/severely impaired".

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Vocabulary Subtest (WAIS-V)

In this study, we used the vocabulary subtest of the fourth version of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale (WAIS) which measures verbal intelligence in the domain of verbal comprehension. Within the test, the participant was asked to explain a total of 33 words. The examiner scored the answers of the participant with points from 0 to 2 according to an official manuscript with 2 points as the best score and 66 points as the maximum total score. Results were then adjusted by age according to the official WAIS scores.

Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Matrices Subtest (WAIS-MR)

As a part of the Perceptual Organization Index in the WAIS ¹⁶⁶, the matrices subtest is used to measure performance intelligence, especially visual processing, nonverbal abstract problem solving and abstract reasoning. The test was conducted as a paper- and pencil test with 26 trials and the instruction to complete the given matrices or rows with one of five answer alternatives. We used the official WAIS-Matrices charts in our study. For each correct completion, the participant received one point resulting in a maximum total score of 26 points. Results were again adjusted to the participants' age by the official WAIS scores. Premorbid verbal intelligence was measured with the combination of the vocabulary and the matrices subtest of the WAIS.

3.6 Neuroimaging

Structural and functional images were acquired using a 3 Tesla Philips Ingenia scanner with a 32-channel radio-frequency coil located at the radiology department in the clinic of the Ludwig-Maximilian-University in Munich. To receive the rsfMRI images, participants had the instruction to lie still in the scanner with their eyes open while daydreaming and not focusing on any thought in particular.

3.6.1 sMRI acquisition

Structural images were generated with a multi-echo Magnetization Prepared - Rapid Gradient Echo (MPRAGE) sequence. Parameters were set as follows: repetition time (TR) = 9.5 ms, echo time (TE) = 5.5 ms, flip angle = 8° , field of view = $250 \times 250 \text{ mm}$, matrix size = 256×256 ;

190 contiguous sagittal slices of 1.0 mm thickness and a 1.0 mm gap, voxel size = .97 mm x.97 mm x 1 mm, pixel band width = 650 Hz.

3.6.2 sMRI preprocessing

We used the Computational Anatomy Toolbox (CAT12) (http://www.neuro.uni-jena.de/cat12/) version r1207 for the preprocessing of the sMRI data. The first step was to denoise the structural images using Spatially Adaptive Non-Local Means filtering to increase the signal-tonoise ratio of the data ¹⁶⁷. Images were then segmented using an Adaptive Maximum A Posteriori (AMAP) approach to reach a homogeneous segmentation across cortical and subcortical structures by modeling the local variations of intensity distributions as slowly varying spatial functions ¹⁶⁸. Next, the Markov Random Field approach was applied for the segmentation estimation which uses spatial prior information of neighboring voxels by AMAP ¹⁶⁸. To account for differences caused by white matter (WM) inhomogeneities and varying gray matter (GM) intensities due to the differential iron content in cortical and subcortical structures, images were harmonized using a Local Adaptive Segmentation step. Therefore, we used a Partial Volume Segmentation algorithm applied to GM, WM and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) by AMAP technique. Lastly, structural images were registered to the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template using the Diffeomorphic Anatomical Registration Through Exponentiated Lie algebra (DARTEL) algorithm ¹⁶⁹.

3.6.3 rsfMRI acquisition

RsfMRI images were generated using an echo planar imaging (EPI) sequence and the intercommissural line (AC-PC) as a reference with the following parameters: number of ascending slices = 53, TR = 3000 ms, TE = 30 ms, flip angle = 90°, field of view = 230 x 230 mm, 3.0 mm thickness and 3.0 mm gap, matrix size = 80x80, voxel size = 2.875 mm x 2.875 mm x 3 mm, total scan time 603 seconds (200 volumes).

3.6.4 rsfMRI preprocessing

The preprocessing was done using SPM-12. The initial 8 volumes were omitted by default because the magnetization equilibrium was not reached. Images were slice-time-corrected and realigned and unwarped to the first volume for head movement correction. To control for further movement artifacts, FD was calculated ¹⁷⁰ and subjects with > 38.5 % of volumes with mean FD of > 0.50 mm were excluded ¹⁷¹ from the analysis. Images were then coregistered to the structural images, resliced with 4th-degree B-Spline interpolation and normalized to the standard MNI space. The standard CAT12 template was converted from DARTEL space to MNI space using SPM12's population to the International Consortium for Brain Mapping 152 registration procedure. To generate a GM-, WM- and CSF mask, the image calculator

procedure in SPM12 was used with threshold set to 0.2, 0.2 and 0.5. The variance from the WM and the CSF was eliminated from the mean individual signal estimates and the GM mask was used to margin the space of functional images. The images were then smoothed with 6mm Gaussian kernel to decrease spatial noise. Further denoising steps to remove the effect of systematic drifts in fMRI were: (1) motion correction using the Time Series Despiking Method (Wavelet Despike) of the Brain Wavelet Toolbox (BWT) (http://www.brainwavelet.org/) ¹⁷²; (2) regression of confounding signals and residuals of the WM and the CSF with Friston 24 motion parameters ¹⁷³ to account for physiological artifacts. For this purpose, the 24 motion parameters were deviated from 6 head motion parameters, 6 head motion parameters as of the previous time point and 12 corresponding quadratic terms; (3) background and temporal band-pass filtering (0.01 - 0.08 Hz) to reduce the effects of low-frequency drift and high-frequency noise ¹⁷⁴. We used the Resting State fMRI Data Analysis Toolkit (REST version 1.8; http://www.restfmri.net/) for the preprocessing ¹⁷⁴. For a visualization of the preprocessing pipeline see Figure 6.



Figure 6: Preprocessing pipeline for rsfMRI data. Adapted from Haas ¹⁴².

3.7 Statistical analysis of the behavioral data

R version 3.6.2 (R-Core-Team, 2017) was used for the statistical analysis of the behavioral data. Independent two sample-t-tests for continuous variables (e.g. "age", "years of education", "BDI-II", "GAF", "GF" and "WAIS") and Fisher's chi-square test for categorical variables (e.g. "sex") were performed to compare baseline characteristics between (1) SCT and TAU group and (2) Maintainers and Improvers. To investigate the change of the neurocognitive and the psychosocial performance across the time, we performed an ANCOVA with the follow-up score as the dependent variable, the baseline performance and sex (only for SCT – TAU) as a covariate and the study group (e.g. "SCT" and "TAU" or "Maintainer" and "Improver") as a between-subject factor with the "ez"-package (Michael A. Lawrence, 2016) in R 3.6.2. Missing values were imputed by the median of the appropriate variable. The significance level was set to 0.05 (p) with False Discovery Rate (FDR) correction for multiple comparisons ¹⁷⁵. We further controlled for outliers that overstepped the threshold of twice the standard deviation. A description of the primary and the secondary outcome variables can be found in Table 4.

Variable	Timepoint o	f assessment
	ТО	FU
Primary outcome: cognition		
Social cognition	x	x
Working memory	х	х
Speed of processing	х	х
Verbal learning	x	x
Attention	x	x
Global cognition	x	x
Secondary outcome: psychosocial functioning		
GAF-S	x	x
GAF-D	x	х
GF-S	x	x
GF-R	x	x

Table 4: Definition of the primary and the secondary outcome variables. T0 = timepoint 0 (at the beginning of the study); FU = follow-up (at the end of the study).

3.8 Statistical analysis of the neuroimaging data

3.8.1 Generation of seed-based rsFC maps

A ROI-based approach to analyze the rsfMRI data was conducted using the REST software package (http://resting-fmri.sourceforge.net) version 1.8 in SPM12. BOLD time series was extracted from the right dIPFC (23 46 39) ¹⁷⁶, the right caudate (12 14 14) ¹⁷⁷ and the left amygdala (-22 -6 -24) ¹⁷⁸ with 10mm radius sphere. Next, voxel-wise correlation analyses were performed between the seed regions and the remaining voxels of the brain to obtain FC maps. To improve the normality, correlation coefficients of the FC maps were consecutively standardized to z-score by the use of Fisher's r-to-z transformation. See Figure 7 for a visualization of the generation of seed-based FC maps.



Figure 7: Visualization of the generation of seed-based FC correlation maps. Adapted from Haas ¹⁴² and Madeo, Talarico ¹⁷⁹.

3.8.2 Statistical analysis of the seed-based rsFC maps

The FC maps of each seed region were added to a second-level group analysis with the REST toolkit in SPM12. To assure image quality, the FC maps were submitted to a one-sample-t-test for each seed separately. Next, we used the CAT12 toolbox (http://www.neuro.unijena.de/cat12-html/cat.html) to check for image homogeneity. The FC maps were then added to a 2-by-2 full factorial ANCOVA with time (e.g. "T0" and "FU") as the within-group factor and study group (e.g. "SCT" and "TAU" or "Maintainer" and "Improver") as the between-group factor to examine changes in the rsFC between the seed regions and the rest of the brain across the time with respect to the study group. Mean FD parameters and sex (only for the comparison between SCT and TAU) were added as covariates to the model. The significance level was set to p < 0.05 and the Family Wise Error (FWE) was used for multiple comparison correction

to control the false positive rates. Brain regions that showed a significant FC were then localized using the Wake Forest University PickAtlas toolbox (WFU PickAtlas Version 3.0) (https://www.nitrc.org/projects/wfu_pickatlas/) in SPM12 based on the Automated Anatomical Labeling (AAL) atlas.

Lastly, we investigated the relationship between the rsFC patterns and the cognitive performance in the respective study group. Therefore we extracted the z-transformed connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions using the Marsbar toolbox ¹⁸⁰ in SPM12. These values were imported in R and differences of the connectivity values from T0 to follow-up (FU - T0) were calculated. Next, we performed Pearson's correlation tests between the connectivity values and the cognitive performance scores at the follow-up plus the correlation between the differences of both (FU – T0) for each study group separately. We additionally estimated the Pearson's correlation between the baseline connectivity values and the change in the cognitive performance scores to examine if baseline FC patterns predicted cognitive outcome. The FDR correction was used for multiple comparison correction and the significance level was set to p < 0.05.

4 Results

4.1 Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics

4.1.1 SCT and TAU

We recruited 40 participants with both inpatient and outpatient status. The mean age of the study population was 25.05 years (SD= 5.71) with no significant difference between the groups. However, the portion of women was significantly higher in the SCT group (X2 = 4.19; p = 0.04). Further characteristics of the demographic and clinical variables are described in Table 5.

		SCT group (n=17)	TAU group (n=14)	F-test	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F/ X ²	р
Male/	Female	6/11	11/3	4.19	0.04*
Age (y	/ears)	26.86 (6.36)	22.71 (5.44)	0.73	0.58
Educa	ition (years)	13.33 (4.30)	12.64 (2.85)	0.44	0.22
BDI-II		29.59 (14.31)	26.29 (9.13)	0.41	0.11
WAIS	V	11.27 (2.22)	11.25 (2.30)	1.08	0.88
WAIS	MR	10.44 (2.37)	11.15 (2.15)	0.83	0.75
GAF-S	8				
	Lifetime	79.47 (7.30)	79.73 (4.86)	0.43	0.19
	Past year	63.73 (9.76)	70.73 (8.57)	0.72	0.61
	Past month	49 (10.49)	52.09 (8.28)	0.62	0.47
GAF-I	C				
	Lifetime	78.67 (7.38)	76.36 (9.05)	1.47	0.54
	Past year	66.33 (9.95)	71.64 (8.73)	1.07	0.91
	Past month	51.8 (9.59)	53.45 (7.47)	0.74	0.64
GF					
	Social current	5.93 (1.33)	6.64 (1.03)	0.52	0.31
	Role current	5 (2.10)	5.64 (1.69)	0.70	0.58

Table 5: Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of the SCT and the TAU group. N = Number; SD = standard deviation; F = F-value; $X^2 = X^2$ -value; p = p-value. *Significant at p < 0.05.

4.1.2 Maintainers and Improvers

Maintainers and Improvers did not differ significantly in age or sex. However, Maintainers exhibited better everyday and social functioning scores in the past month (GAF-S: F = 5.63; p = 0.03; GF-S: F = 5.04; p = 0.04) prior to the baseline assessment (see Figure 8; Figure 9).



Figure 8: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline GAF-S past month score.



Figure 9: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline GF-S score.

Further demographic and clinical characteristics of Maintainers and Improvers can be found in Table 6.

		Maintainers (n=10)	Improvers (n=7)	F-test	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F/ X ²	р
Male/	Female	3/7	3/4	<0.01	0.98
Age (y	/ears)	25.44 (6.6)	29.40 (5.64)	0.73	0.81
Educa	ation (years)	12.43 (4.43)	16.50 (2.12)	0.23	0.70
BDI-II		34.70 (9.86)	22.29 (17.17)	3.04	0.13
WAIS	V	10.78 (2.44)	12.00 (1.79)	0.54	0.51
WAIS	MR	10.30 (2.71)	10.67 (1.86)	0.47	0.42
GAF-	8				
	Lifetime	78.22 (7.16)	81.33 (7.76)	1.18	0.80
	Past year	68.33 (7.11)	56.83 (9.52)	1.79	0.44
	Past month	51.67 (6.18)	45.0 (14.67)	5.63	0.03*
GAF-I	C				
	Lifetime	79.33 (6.73)	77.67 (8.85)	1.73	0.47
	Past year	70.89 (8.40)	59.5 (8.41)	1.00	0.95
	Past month	52.22 (9.26)	51.17 (10.93)	1.39	0.64
GF					
	Social current	6.22 (0.83)	5.5 (1.87)	5.04	0.04*
	Role current	5.33 (2.06)	4.5 (2.26)	1.2	0.78

Table 6: Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of Maintainers and Improvers. *Significant at p< 0.05.</td>

4.2 Effects of the SCT on cognition

4.2.1 SCT and TAU

With respect to cognitive performance, the SCT and the TAU group did not differ significantly at baseline. However, the analysis showed a significant between-group effect on working memory (F = 4.45; p = 0.04; η^2_G = 0.13) whereby participants in the TAU group showed a stronger improvement as compared to the SCT group (see Figure 10). This difference did not survive the multiple comparison correction (p = 0.52) nor the exclusion of outliers that overstepped the threshold of twice the standard deviation (n = 3; p = 0.166).



Figure 10: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on working memory.

No significant group effects were found for the remaining cognitive domains. Results of the ANCOVA can be found in Table 7.

		SCT group (n=17)	TAU group (n=14)	F-test		Betwee	n-group Comparison (A	NCOVA)
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F	р	F	p (p FDR-corrected)	η^{2}_{G}
Social cognition	Т0	-0.08 (1.21)	0.09 (0.80)	2.11	0.15	2 17	0 15 (0 87)	0.07
	FU	0.24 (0.68)	-0.29 (1.14)	2.78	0.07	2.17	0.15 (0.87)	0.07
Speed of processing	Т0	0.23 (0.48)	-0.12 (0.70)	0.39	0.18	0 83	0 37 (0 87)	0.03
	FU	0.29 (0.63)	-0.14 (0.59)	0.88	0.83	0.03	0.37 (0.87)	0.03
Working memory	Т0	0.28 (0.87)	-0.22 (0.82)	0.53	0.84	1 15	0 04* (0 52)	0 12
	FU	0.11 (0.65)	0.11 (0.88)	1.80	0.29	4.45	0.04 (0.32)	0.13
Verbal learning	Т0	0.24 (1.06)	-0.07 (0.77)	0.49	0.27	0.03	0.87 (0.95)	-0.01
	FU	0.19 (0.67)	<0.01 (0.70)	1.09	0.87	0.03	0.87 (0.95)	<0.01
Attention	Т0	0.38 (1.49)	0.22 (0.93)	0.88	0.11	0.62	0 44 (0 97)	0.02
	FU	0.19 (0.74)	0.17 (0.67)	0.83	0.75	0.02	0.44 (0.87)	0.02
Global cognition	T0	0.19 (0.66)	-0.02 (0.46)	2.11	0.21	0.34	0.57 (0.95)	0.01
	FU	0.20 (0.29)	-0.03 (0.39)	1.77	0.30	0.34	0.57 (0.95)	0.01

Table 7: Baseline and follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and results of the ANCOVA between the SCT and the TAU group. $\eta^2_G = \eta^2_G$ -value. *Significant at p < 0.05.

4.2.2 Maintainers and Improvers

Participants in the Maintainers group showed significantly higher scores in social cognition (F = 1.72; p = 0.05) at baseline as compared to the Improvers (see Figure 11).



Figure 11: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline score of social cognition.

Notwithstanding we observed a significant increase of the social cognitive performance in the Improvers group (F = 7.78; p = 0.01; $\eta^2_G = 0.34$) as compared to the Maintainers (see Figure 12). The result did not remain significant after implementing the FDR-correction (p = 0.17) and controlling for outliers (n = 1; p = 0.06).



SPC 🖨 Improver 🖨 Maintainer

Figure 12: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on social cognition.

Other between-group differences in the cognitive domains were not significant. Results of the ANCOVA are presented in Table 8.

		Maintainers (n=10)	Improvers (n=7)	F-test		Between-group comparison		ו
						(ANC	OVA)	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F	р	F	p (p FDR-corrected)	η^2_G
Social cognition	Т0	0.12 (0.68)	-0.19 (1.45)	1.72	0.05*			
	FU	-0.38 (0.77)	0.75 (1.05)	1.83	0.42	7.78	0.01 * (0.17)	0.34
Speed of processing	Т0	0.08 (0.55)	0.09 (0.72)	1.58	0.46			
	FU	0.19 (0.82)	-0.37 (0.50)	0.37	0.35	2.01	0.18 (0.45)	0.12
Working memory	Т0	-0.00 (0.93)	0.00 (0.90)	0.32	0.98			
	FU	-0.02 (0.66)	0.05 (0.66)	1.00	0.91	0.01	0.91 (0.91)	0.00
Verbal learning	Т0	-0.06 (1.19)	0.09 (0.67)	3.45	0.22			
	FU	-0.08 (1.20)	0.18 (0.48)	0.16	0.09	0.27	0.61 (0.82)	0.02
Attention	Т0	-0.23 (1.71)	0.39 (2.15)	0.96	0.52			
	FU	-0.12 (1.13)	0.25 (0.70)	0.39	0.37	0.17	0.68 (0.82)	0.01

Table 8: Baseline and follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and results of the ANCOVA between Maintainers and Improvers. *Significant at p < 0.05.

Global cognition	Т0	-0.02 (0.54)	0.03 (1.00)	0.10				
	FU	-0.09 (0.35)	0.17 (0.29)	0.72	0.80	2.15	0.16 (0.45)	0.13

4.3 Effects of the SCT on psychosocial functioning

4.3.1 SCT and TAU

We found no significant differences in the interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on psychosocial functioning. Results of the ANCOVA can be found in Table 9.

		SCT group (n=17)	TAU group (n=14)	F-tes	t	Between-	group comparison (Al	NCOVA)
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F	р	F	p (p FDR-corrected)	η^2_G
GAF-	S							
	Past year	66.64 (8.12)	69.86 (9.26)	0.89	0.90	0.91	0.35 (0.87)	0.03
	Past month	64.21 (8.68)	62.57 (10.36)	1.22	0.79	0.19	0.66 (0.95)	0.01
GAF-I	D							
	Past year	67 (11.73)	69.71 (6.85)	0.49	0.40	0.01	0.93 (0.95)	<0.01
	Past month	65.36 (12.31)	65.86 (10.98)	0.97	0.99	0.06	0.81 (0.95)	<0.01
GF								
	Social current	7.34 (0.74)	7.57 (0.53)	1.07	0.92	0.67	0.42 (0.87)	0.02
	Role current	6.14 (2.11)	5.71 (2.21)	1.11	0.88	<0.01	0.95 (0.95)	<0.01

Table 9: Results of the ANCOVA of the psychosocial functioning variables between the SCT and the TAU group. *Significant at p < 0.05.

4.3.2 Maintainers and Improvers

The analysis revealed a significant difference in the GF-S score between the groups whereby participants in the Maintainers group showed more benefit on social functioning as compared to the Improvers group (GF-S: F = 5.42; p = 0.03; $\eta^2_G = 0.27$) (see Figure 13). After controlling for outliers, the result was still significant (n = 1; p = 0.02; $\eta^2_G = 0.35$). However, the difference did not survive the multiple comparison correction (p = 0.21).



Figure 13: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on the GF-S score.

Other differences in the psychosocial functioning scores between Maintainers and Improvers were not significant. Table 10 presents the results of the ANCOVA.

		Maintainers (n=10)	Improvers (n=7)	F-test		Between-g	roup-comparison (ANC	OVA)
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	F	р	F	p (p FDR-corrected)	η^{2}_{G}
GAF-	S							
	Past year	70.25 (3.58)	61.83 (10.25)	8.21	0.02	0.36	0.56 (0.82)	0.02
	Past month	70.25 (3.58)	61.83 (10.25)	0.61	0.60	0.02	0.90 (0.91)	0.00
GAF-I	C							
	Past year	72.25 (6.92)	60.00 (13.70)	3.91	0.10	0.77	0.39 (0.67)	0.05
	Past month	68.88 (11.24)	60.67 (13.08)	1.35	0.69	1.20	0.29 (0.58)	0.07
GF								
	Social current	7.75 (0.46)	6.83 (0.75)	2.64	0.24	5.42	0.03 * (0.21)	0.27
	Role current	6.88 (1.36)	5.17 (2.64)	3.79	0.11	1.90	0.19 (0.45)	0.11

Table 10: Results of the ANCOVA of the psychosocial functioning variables between Maintainers and Improvers. *Significant at p < 0.05.

4.4 Effects of the SCT on the rsFC

4.4.1 SCT and TAU

Compared to the TAU group, participants in the SCT group exhibited a greater increase of the rsFC between the seed located in the right caudate and the left STL (p-corr. = <0.01) over the follow-up period (see Figure 14). On the contrary, participants in the TAU group showed a significant increase of the rsFC between the right caudate and the bilateral SFL (right SFL: p-corr. = 0.04; left SFL: p-corr. = <0.01) as compared to the SCT group from T0 to follow-up (see Figure 14). There was an additional group by time effect on the rsFC between the seed in the right dIPFC and the left medial cingulum (p-corr. = <0.01) as well as the right precuneus (p-corr. = 0.02) in the TAU group as compared to the SCT group across the study (see Figure 15). We found no significant group by time interaction for the rsFC between the left amygdala and all the other voxels of the brain. Results of the full factorial ANCOVA are presented in Table 11.

Table 11: Results of the full factorial ANCOVA of the rsFC between the SCT and the TAU group. L= Left; R = Right. *Significant at p < 0.05.

Seed region	Region	L/R	Cluster	Peak Voxel MNI coordinates		Peak Voxel		Z-score	Cluster-level	Peak-level
			size			dinates		p (FWE)	p (FWE)	
				Х	Y	Z				
Right Caudate										
TAU > SCT	Superior frontal lobe	L	3	0	32	56	6.08	>0.99	<0.01*	
	Superior frontal lobe	R	1	14	17	48	5.22	>0.99	0.04*	
SCT > TAU	Superior temporal lobe	L	258	-51	-20	8	3.93	<0.01*	>0.99	
Right dIPFC										
TAU > SCT	Medial Cingulum	L	261	-12	-24	44	5.63	<0.01*	<0.01*	
	Medial Cingulum	L	842	0	-45	45	5.54	<0.01*	0.01*	
	Precuneus	R	2	15	-53	41	5.38	>0.99	0.02*	



Figure 14: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the right caudate.



Figure 15: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the right dIPFC.

4.4.2 Maintainers and Improvers

We found a significant interaction effect on the rsFC between the seed region in the left amygdala and the left SFL (p-corr. = <0.01) and the left MFL (p-corr. = <0.01) in the Improvers group as compared to the Maintainers across the study. Likewise, Maintainers showed an increased rsFC between the left amygdala and the left MFL (p-corr. = <0.01) as compared to the Improvers from T0 to follow-up (see Figure 16). There was no significant group by time interaction effect on the rsFC between the seed located in the right dIPFC or the right caudate and all the other voxels of the brain. For the results of the full factorial ANCOVA see Table 12.

Seed region	Region	L/R	Cluster size	Peak Voxel		Peak Voxel		Cluster-level	Peak-level
				MNI	MNI coordinates			p (FWE)	p (FWE)
				Х	Y	Z			
Left amygdala									
Improvers > Maintainers	Medial frontal lobe	L	2517	-36	18	45	5.74	<0.01*	<0.01*
	Superior frontal lobe	L	117	2	63	18	5.41	<0.01*	0.01*
Maintainers > Improvers	Medial frontal lobe	L	121	-35	18	45	5.16	<0.01*	0.05*

Table 12: Results of the full factorial ANCOVA of the rsFC between Maintainers and Improvers. *Significant at p < 0.05.


Figure 16: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the left amygdala.

4.5 The relationship between the rsFC and cognition

4.5.1 SCT and TAU

The Pearson's correlation tests did not reveal a significant association between the follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and the follow-up connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions of the participants in the SCT group after implementing the multiple comparison correction. There was further no significant correlation between the differences of the both or the baseline connectivity values and the change in the scores of the cognitive domains between baseline and follow-up in the SCT group, after we corrected for multiple comparisons. Results are presented in Table 13.

Similar to the results for the SCT group, we neither found a significant correlation between the follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and the follow-up connectivity values of the regions with a significant rsFC to the seed regions, the differences of the cognitive scores and the baseline connectivity values nor between the differences of the aforementioned variables in the TAU group after we corrected for multiple comparisons. Results of the Pearson's correlation tests can be found in Table 14.

4.5.2 Maintainers and Improvers

There was no significant association between the follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and the follow-up connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions in the Maintainers group after correcting for multiple testing. Likewise, we did not find a significant correlation between the differences of the both or the baseline connectivity values and the change in the scores of the cognitive domains between baseline and follow-up in the same group after we corrected for multiple comparisons. The results of the calculated Pearson's correlation tests are presented in Table 15.

With respect to the Improvers group, the correlation tests did not show a significant correlation between the follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and the follow-up connectivity values, the differences of the cognitive scores and the baseline connectivity values or between the differences of the aforementioned variables after we controlled for multiple testing. Results can be seen in Table 16.

5 Discussion

5.1 Effects of the SCT on cognition and psychosocial functioning

5.1.1 SCT and TAU

The SCT showed no significant effect on the cognitive performance or the functional outcome as compared to TAU in this study which is oppositional to our hypothesis that SCT has an additional effect on the neurocognitive performance and daily functioning in MDD. However, previous studies reported similar results including Murthy, Mahncke ¹⁸¹ who did not observe a significant effect of a specific brain fitness program on the cognitive performance in schizophrenia despite a large, significant improvement in a training exercise task (auditory processing speed). Likewise, CR therapy was not associated with a greater cognitive improvement as compared to TAU in schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorders in a study of Lewis, Unkefer ¹⁸². In line with this, Choi, Wang ¹⁸³ did not observe a significant improvement of memory after a targeted cognitive intervention and concluded that the examined sample had no need of cognitive training therapy due to a greater cognitive reserve. With respect to the functional outcome, the effect size of cognitive training on functional outcome measures was not significant in a meta-analysis of Woolf, Lampit ¹⁸⁴ while Bowie, Gupta ¹⁸⁵ did not observe a significant improvement in functioning measures after a combined internet-based CR intervention in treatment-resistant depression.

Woolf, Lampit ¹⁸⁴ suggested that another possible reason for missing results of cognitive training therapy could be a lack of consensus on the neuropsychological test battery included in the diagnostic of MDD, so that null results may reflect an insufficient cognitive assessment. Moreover, Mowszowski, Lampit ¹⁸⁶ highlighted the difficulty of a reliable neuropsychological assessment, since some neurocognitive domains rely on novelty and abstract thinking which hinders the administration of validated tests ^{184,186}. In this study, we used the MCCB neuropsychological test battery with the resulting cognitive domains (e.g. "social cognition", "verbal learning", "working memory", "speed of processing", "attention" and "global cognition") that is designed for schizophrenia and related disorders ¹⁵². However, this battery does not include tests on executive function although previous studies reported significant disturbances in frontal lobe cognitive functioning in depression ^{187,188}.

Executive function is described as the ability to "flexible organize thoughts and actions towards a target behavior and to coordinate and monitor schemas to achieve complex tasks" ¹²⁹. It further implies decision making, organization and learning ^{52,189} as well as inhibitory control and planning ^{190,191}. The overall effect of cognitive training on executive function was statistically significant in the meta-analysis of Woolf, Lampit ¹⁸⁴. Moreover, further studies

described similar results with improved executive functioning skills after a cognitive training in depression ^{192,193}.

These findings suggest that examining executive function in this study would have brought up additional insights in the effectiveness of the SCT on the cognitive performance. Therefore, we can not exclude that the administered intervention slightly improved basic cognitive domains such as executive function that did not transfer to more distal cognitive domains which might rely on an intact performance of the former ¹⁹⁴. Additionally, as suggested by Choi, Wang ¹⁸³, the effectiveness of cognitive training probably depends on the individual cognitive reserve, whereby persons with greater cognitive impairment may benefit more clearly from the intervention.

5.1.2 Maintainers and Improvers

We further addressed the effectiveness of the SCT in MDD groups with different patterns of sensory processing. Thereby, we differentiated between participants who already exhibited an optimal processing performance at baseline (Maintainers) and those who showed an impaired baseline performance but reached the optimal processing threshold during the training period (Improvers). According to our results, Maintainers showed significantly higher baseline scores of social cognition while Improvers significantly strengthened social cognitive abilities as compared to Maintainers across the study. Additionally, social functioning was significantly increased in Maintainers as compared to Improvers at the end of the study. These results are in line with previous findings from studies in schizophrenia that demonstrated a significant effect of CCT and SCT on social cognitive functions ¹⁹⁵⁻¹⁹⁷ and functional outcome measures ^{78,195,197}. For example, Nahum, Fisher ¹⁹⁸ observed an improved performance on social cognitive tasks and enhanced social functioning after a neuroplasticity-based online SCT program for young adults with schizophrenia. In a study of Sacks, Fisher ¹⁹⁹, participants with schizophrenia significantly enhanced social cognitive abilities after a combined computerized SCT and a neuroplasticity-based auditory training. Improvements in activities of daily living after cognitive training interventions were further reported in MDD¹.

With respect to the benefit of the SCT on cognitive performance and psychosocial functioning depending on the intrinsic sensory processing behavior of Maintainers and Improvers, our results are contrary to those of Kambeitz-Ilankovic, Wenzel ⁹. They observed that perceived sensory processing was associated with improved emotion recognition in psychosis after a computerized SCT, whereby participants were classified as Maintainers or Improvers similar to this study. Kambeitz-Ilankovic, Wenzel ⁹ concluded that participants with more cognitive reserve show a greater transfer effect to cognitive performance while Improvers can not translate training improvement into cognitive gains. They further pointed to the possibility that

Improvers might have benefited from an elongated and more diversified CCT program ⁹. Differences in the results might originate from a varying responsiveness to CCT depending on the degree of cognitive impairment in MDD and schizophrenia. Thus, more severe neurocognitive impairments were observed in patients with schizophrenia as compared to depression ^{188,200,201} that might hinder the successful participation in CCT programs and point towards an individual threshold for improvement on the training tasks that is needed to induce a significant strengthening of general cognitive abilities ^{10,202}. Subsequent, the threshold for training engagement to reach cognitive improvement potentially varies between psychiatric disorders and results in different needs of training duration and intensity.

However, our results concur with Choi, Wang ¹⁸³ who proposed that participants with less cognitive reserve show more benefit on cognitive outcome measures after cognitive training interventions. Likewise, participants with low baseline cognitive performance showed significantly more benefit from CCT as compared to those with high baseline scores in a sample of patients with MDD, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia in a study of Harvey, Balzer ²⁰². They suggested that "individuals with psychiatric conditions who do not manifest cognitive impairments at baseline might not be candidates for interventions aimed at cognitive enhancement" ²⁰². Nonetheless, cognitive disability hinders successful functional recovery ² and decreases everyday functioning 47,203 that might explain why Maintainers showed more benefit on social functioning measurements as compared to Improvers across the study. Harvey, Balzer²⁰² further identified training engagement as measured by a self-developed score consisting of the number of levels achieved per training day and the difference of the baseline and the follow-up scores on a cognitive measurement as an independent predictor of cognitive improvement after CCT. In the same line, Fisher, Holland ⁷ observed that the individual psychophysical learning capacity models the response to cognitive training, whereby subjects with the most progress in basic training exercises (computerized auditory training) showed the most improvement in cognitive abilities. As a conclusion, Harvey, Balzer²⁰² stated baseline cognitive impairment and training engagement as two appropriate predictors of cognitive improvement after CCT and suggested a standardized assessment of baseline cognitive impairment before and a monitoring of training engagement during CR interventions.

In summary, these findings show that individual characteristics such as the sensory processing efficiency and baseline cognitive performance probably influence the susceptibility to cognitive training in mental health disorders. According to the study results, SCT successfully targets reduced sensory processing efficiency, which co-occurred with impaired baseline cognitive functions, in MDD and leads to an enhanced processing capability and improved social cognition. Consequently, these baseline characteristics of MDD patients probably predict a stronger response to cognitive training interventions with respect to cognitive outcome

measures. Therefore, our results suggest baseline cognitive impairment and the individual sensory processing behavior as potential markers for the treatment response to SCT and might be worth to assess prior to and during an intended CR intervention ^{7,202}.

5.2 Effects of the SCT on rsFC

5.2.1 SCT and TAU

We found an increased FC at rest between the right caudate and the left superior temporal lobe in the SCT group as compared to TAU from T0 to follow-up. The superior temporal gyrus is involved in the perception and processing of auditory stimuli and plays a role in the interpretation of facial affective stimuli. It is further part of an "interconnected system of regions that construct a spatially distributed perceptual representation of different aspects of faces" ²⁰⁴. Hence, the superior temporal gyrus underlies social cognitive processes especially the perception and judgment of social stimuli and co-actives with multiple parallel processing routes that include the PFC and the amygdala ²⁰⁴. Additionally, Yang, Tian ²⁰⁵ proposed that reduced rsFC between the caudate and the temporal-parietal cortex is a part of the neural alterations underlying MDD and highlights the role of the superior temporal gyrus as "one of the most identified brain regions linked to the neurobiology of depression" ²⁰⁶. In line with our findings, Meusel, Hall ¹¹⁷ reported on an increased activity of the superior temporal gyrus in task-based fMRI after 10 weeks of CR therapy in participants with mood disorders which was associated with an improved performance on a neuropsychological test battery.

Contrary to that, participants in the TAU group exhibited an increased rsFC between the bilateral frontal lobe and the right caudate nucleus, the cingulum and the precuneus as compared to the SCT group from T0 to follow-up. The cingulum is an association trajectory of the telencephalon that links regions of the neocortex and the entorhinal cortex. Due to the connection between neocortical and hippocampal structures, the cingulum is attributed to the limbic system which underlies learning, memory and emotion processing. The precuneus is a part of the Default Mode Network (DMN) that consists of neural circuits between cortical and subcortical structures ²⁰⁷ and is integrated in processes of problem-solving and cognitive control ^{176,208,209}. Previous studies in depression examined alterations of both the frontal lobe and the limbic system ²¹⁰. They proposed that cortico-limbic dysregulation is a main contributor to the pathophysiology of depression ¹³¹ and suggested that the reorganization of neural cortico-limbic circuits strengthens the cognitive control of prefrontal regions over limbic structures, that leads to an improved emotion regulation in depression ¹¹. Moreover, previous studies demonstrated an altered FC between structures of the DMN and the frontoparietal network in MDD^{211,212} which was correlated with reduced cognitive function in related disorders ²¹³⁻²¹⁵.Similar to our results on the effect of TAU on the rsFC of the brain, recent findings

suggest an extensive effect of antidepressant medication on brain networks in depression ²¹⁶. For example, Hsu, Lane ²¹⁷ observed an increased FC between limbic and prefrontal structures after the antidepressant medication with sertraline in a sample of drug-naïve MDD patients. In line with this, Vasavada, Loureiro ²¹⁸ demonstrated an increased FC between neural correlates of the limbic system and the frontoparietal network after a ketamine infusion therapy in MDD. Likewise, FC was significantly enhanced between the cingulum and the PFC after a CBT monotherapy in patients with current MDD in a study of Pantazatos, Yttredahl ²¹⁹.

Consecutively, increased rsFC between the caudate nucleus and the superior temporal gyrus in the SCT group as compared to TAU across the follow-up period might represent a training-related strengthening of the FC between brain regions that underlie the encoding of facial affective stimuli ²⁰⁴ and hence underlines the potential of SCT to induce neuroplastic changes in the brain. Consistent with findings from previous studies ^{131,217-219}, TAU equally showed a significant effect on the rsFC of brain regions that are involved in the pathology of depression, which emphasizes the need of further studies to clarify the additional effect of SCT on the neuroplasticity of the brain in patients with MDD.

5.2.2 Maintainers and Improvers

We found an increased rsFC between the left amygdala and the left frontal regions in both groups as compared to the respective other from T0 to follow-up. As mentioned above, the connectivity between limbic and prefrontal structures plays an important role in the pathophysiology of depression, whereby dysregulated fronto-limbic pathways are associated with reduced cognitive functions ^{131,220}. In addition, previous studies found a reduced connectivity between the amygdala and the PFC in MDD that might reflect an inadequate inhibition of the limbic system ^{101,131,221,222}. With respect to treatment-induced neuroplastic changes, our results are in line with Cullen, Klimes-Dougan ²²³ who observed that the treatment response to an antidepressant medication was associated with an increased connectivity between limbic and frontal structures in MDD. Furthermore, recent studies showed an increased activity in frontal regions after a CR therapy in a broad range of mental disorders ¹¹⁰⁻¹¹⁴ while Kral, Schuyler ¹¹⁶ reported on an increased FC between the amygdala and frontal regions in a tasked-based fMRI study after a short-term cognitive training as compared to the control group in healthy adults.

Consequently, our results provide additional evidence that computerized SCT induces neuroplastic changes in the brain of patients with MDD. These changes potentially include the reorganization of neural connectivity between frontal and limbic networks that play an important role in the pathophysiology of depression ¹¹. Although future studies should examine the replicability and the long-term effect of the presented results, the connectivity between

these neural structures might represent an appropriate neural target for cognitive training therapy.

5.3 The Relationship between the rsFC and cognition

5.3.1 SCT and TAU

We did not observe a significant association between the change of the cognitive performance and the rsFC patterns from baseline to follow-up neither in the SCT nor the TAU group. Comparable results were reported by Meusel, Hall ¹¹⁷ who could not relate behavioral and neural alterations though they found an increased activity of the lateral and medial prefrontal cortex and the superior temporal cortex and a significant improvement of working memory measured with the backward digit span test in patients with mood disorders after cognitive remediation. Moreover, Bulubas, Padberg ²²⁴ did not find a significant association between the baseline rsFC of the PFC and the response to transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) measured with the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale – 17th version (HDRS-17) and the Positive and Negative Affect Scale (PANAS) in MDD patients.

On the other side, Subramaniam, Luks ²²⁵ detected an increased activity of the left middle and inferior frontal lobe after a combined SCT and CCT in a tasked-based fMRI study in schizophrenia that was associated with improved social functioning over the follow-up period. In line with this, Bor, Brunelin ¹¹⁰ observed an increased activity of the left inferior and middle frontal gyrus that was correlated with improved attention and reasoning capacities after CR therapy in patients with schizophrenia in a tasked-based fMRI study. Furthermore, improved emotion regulation after cognitive training was related to an enhanced FC of the frontoparietal network in a study of Schweizer, Grahn ²²⁶.

Due to the varying study results for the association between behavioral and neural alterations undergoing treatment in mental disorders, Meusel, Hall ¹¹⁷ underlined the need of future studies to investigate the relation of the former. Taylor, Kurt ²²⁷ further pointed towards the identification of the key neural systems underlying antidepressant therapy approaches that can be used as neural biomarkers for treatment response in depression.

5.3.2 Maintainers and Improvers

In line with results for the SCT and the TAU group, there was no significant association between behavioral and neural alterations from baseline to follow-up in the Maintainers or the Improvers group. Previous studies in electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) reported similar results whereby significantly decreased rsFC between the amygdala and the medial PFC and the right dIPFC in patients with schizophrenia and MDD was not associated with improved depressive symptoms after ECT ²²⁸.

However, Straub, Metzger ²²⁹ observed that the increased rsFC between the amygdala and the left dIPFC after a CBT intervention correlated with a significant improvement of depressive symptomology. Additionally, baseline rsFC of the amygdala predicted the response to CBT in this study ²²⁹. Hooker, Bruce ²³⁰ further measured an increased activity of the amygdala after a combined SCT and CCT in schizophrenia that predicted the improvement of the performance in a face emotion recognition task.

Consequently, Taylor, Kurt ²²⁷ claimed that the lack of consensus on the neural processes of the amygdala that are related to antidepressant treatment response might be accounted by a varying sample size and methodological differences. Hereinafter findings support the demand of further studies in the field of neural biomarkers of treatment response in depression ¹¹⁷.

5.4 Conclusion

This study showed that the effect of SCT on cognition and psychosocial functioning in MDD patients probably depends on individual characteristics such as the sensory processing efficiency and the baseline cognitive performance that might mediate the response to SCT. Thus, impaired sensory processing ability that co-occurred with reduced baseline cognitive performance can be successfully targeted with SCT to induce an enhanced sensory processing behavior and improved social cognitive abilities in MDD. Moreover, the individual sensory processing efficiency represent a potential measures of target engagement to predict the treatment response to SCT. On the neural level, SCT might induce a strengthening of the FC between neural structures integrated in the encoding of facial affective stimuli and therefore underline the potential of SCT to induce neuroplastic changes in the brain. Nonetheless, further studies should clarify the effect of SCT on the neuroplasticity of the brain whereby the reorganization of fronto-limbic pathways might be an appropriate target for SCT.

5.5 Limitations and future directions

5.5.1 Limitations

One limitation of the present study is the relatively small sample size accompanied by a dropout rate of 6 participants as compared to a total number of 40 participants included in the study. The relatively small sample size may result from the complex study design with an elaborated assessment, high adherence to training procedure and long overall duration. Since persons suffering from mental disorders struggle with everyday functioning ^{41,42} and cognitive disability ^{1,2}, these deficits may also lead to difficulties in attending arrangements or maintain training routine. However, further studies with a bigger sample size are needed to replicate our results and test the validity. We also did not assess individual and clinical characteristics such

as employment status ⁶⁹ or the type of antidepressant treatment ^{231,232} of the participants that probably mediated the response to SCT. Additionally, we did not include a group of healthy controls in our study that would have given insights into the effect of SCT on the cognitive performance, psychosocial functioning and the FC of the brain of healthy persons as compared to MDD patients. It would have been of further interest to compare different patterns of sensory processing behavior between MDD patients and healthy controls to clarify the role of the individual processing ability in the diagnostic and treatment of MDD. In line with this, Woolf, Lampit ¹⁸⁴ emphasized the importance of an optimal control condition in clinical studies to precisely differentiate between effects induced by the intervention or practice and prior exposure. Finally, the ROI-based approach used for the analysis of the fMRI data in this study, contracts the identification of functional networks since we predefined brain regions prior to the analysis. Although we interpreted the identified clusters of significant rsFC in the framework of neural networks, we can not fulfill the demand of a network-based approach ²³³. This well-known disadvantage of seed-based rsfMRI analysis may lead to an overrating of the maintained results and emphasizes the role of alternative approaches in rsfMRI analysis ¹⁰⁸.

5.5.2 Future directions

Further studies with a larger sample size are needed to clarify the short- and long-term effect of computerized SCT on the behavioral and biological characteristics (e.g. "cognition", "psychosocial functioning", "rsFC of the brain") of MDD ¹⁸⁴. Moreover, future studies might seek a consensus on the optimal training design of SCT (e.g., "frequency", "overall duration") ⁵⁸ as well as the way of integration in the conventional therapy of depression ^{78,89,184} with the focus on the accessibility and feasibility of cognitive training to the general public ¹⁸⁴. Since our results suggest the individual sensory processing behavior as a potential marker of target engagement to predict the treatment response to SCT, it might be possible to assess the individual need of cognitive training prior to an intervention. Future studies should additionally focus on the identification of neural correlates of target engagement and treatment response to SCT that could direct the treatment of MDD towards an individualized medicine.

6 References

1. Motter JN, Pimontel MA, Rindskopf D, Devanand DP, Doraiswamy PM, Sneed JR. Computerized cognitive training and functional recovery in major depressive disorder: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2016; **189**: 184-91.

2. Weightman MJ, Air TM, Baune BT. A Review of the Role of Social Cognition in Major Depressive Disorder. *Front Psychiatry* 2014; **5**(179).

3. Hirschfeld RM. History and evolution of the monoamine hypothesis of depression. *Journal of clinical psychiatry* 2000; **61**(6): 4-6.

4. Elgamal S, McKinnon MC, Ramakrishnan K, Joffe RT, MacQueen G. Successful computerassisted cognitive remediation therapy in patients with unipolar depression: a proof of principle study. *Psychol Med* 2007; **37**(9): 1229-38.

5. Ikebuchi E, Sato S, Yamaguchi S, et al. Does improvement of cognitive functioning by cognitive remediation therapy effect work outcomes in severe mental illness? A secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2017; **71**(5): 301-8.

6. Matcheri S. Keshavan, M.D. ,, Sophia Vinogradov, M.D. ,, Judith Rumsey, Ph.D. ,, Joel Sherrill, Ph.D. , and, Ann Wagner, Ph.D. Cognitive Training in Mental Disorders: Update and Future Directions. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2014; **171**(5): 510-22.

7. Fisher M, Holland C, Merzenich MM, Vinogradov S. Using neuroplasticity-based auditory training to improve verbal memory in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 2009; **166**(7): 805-11.

8. Merzenich MM, Van Vleet TM, Nahum M. Brain plasticity-based therapeutics. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience* 2014; **8**.

9. Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, Wenzel J, Haas SS, et al. Modeling Social Sensory Processing During Social Computerized Cognitive Training for Psychosis Spectrum: The Resting-State Approach. *Front Psychiatry* 2020; **11**: 554475.

10. Biagianti B, Fisher M, Neilands TB, Loewy R, Vinogradov S. Engagement with the auditory processing system during targeted auditory cognitive training mediates changes in cognitive outcomes in individuals with schizophrenia. *Neuropsychology* 2016; **30**(8): 998-1008.

11. DeRubeis RJ, Siegle GJ, Hollon SD. Cognitive therapy versus medication for depression: treatment outcomes and neural mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2008; **9**(10): 788-96.

12. Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Evidence-based health policy--lessons from the Global Burden of Disease Study. *Science* 1996; **274**(5288): 740-3.

13. Smith K. Mental health: a world of depression. *Nature* 2014; **515**(7526): 181.

14. Mondal S, Sharma VK, Das S, Goswami U, Gandhi A. Neuro-cognitive functions in patients of major depression. *Indian J Physiol Pharmacol* 2007; **51**(1): 69-75.

15. Bromet E, Andrade LH, Hwang I, et al. Cross-national epidemiology of DSM-IV major depressive episode. *BMC Medicine* 2011; **9**(1): 90.

16. Kessler RC, Bromet EJ. The epidemiology of depression across cultures. *Annu Rev Public Health* 2013; **34**: 119-38.

17. Association. AP. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). *Washington, DC* 2013.

18. Godard J, Grondin S, Baruch P, Lafleur MF. Psychosocial and neurocognitive profiles in depressed patients with major depressive disorder and bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 2011; **190**(2-3): 244-52.

19. Collins PY, Patel V, Joestl SS, et al. Grand challenges in global mental health. *Nature* 2011; **475**(7354): 27-30.

20. Kessler RC, Akiskal HS, Ames M, et al. Prevalence and effects of mood disorders on work performance in a nationally representative sample of U.S. workers. *Am J Psychiatry* 2006; **163**(9): 1561-8.

21. Sobocki P, Jönsson B, Angst J, Rehnberg C. Cost of Depression in Europe. *Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics* 2006; **9**(2): 87-98.

22. Greenberg PE, Fournier AA, Sisitsky T, Pike CT, Kessler RC. The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 2015; **76**(2): 155-62.

23. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK) KBK, Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften (AWMF). Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Unipolare Depression – Langfassung, Version 3.0. 2022.

24. DGPPN B, KBV, AWMF (Hrsg.) für die Leitliniengruppe Unipolare Depression. S3-Leitlinie/Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Unipolare Depression – Langfassung, 2. Auflage. 2015; **Version 5.**

25. Hamon M, Blier P. Monoamine neurocircuitry in depression and strategies for new treatments. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry* 2013; **45**: 54-63.

26. JOSEPH J. SCHILDKRAUT. THE CATECHOLAMINE HYPOTHESIS OF AFFECTIVE DISORDERS: A REVIEW OF SUPPORTING EVIDENCE. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1965; **122**(5): 509-22.

27. Bertelsen A, Harvald B, Hauge M. A Danish Twin Study of Manic-Depressive Disorders. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 1977; **130**(4): 330-51.

28. Zubin J, Spring B. Vulnerability--a new view of schizophrenia. *J Abnorm Psychol* 1977; **86**(2): 103-26.

29. Zubin J, Steinhauer S. How to break the logjam in schizophrenia. A look beyond genetics. *J Nerv Ment Dis* 1981; **169**(8): 477-92.

30. Zubin J, Magaziner J, Steinhauer SR. The metamorphosis of schizophrenia: from chronicity to vulnerability. *Psychol Med* 1983; **13**(3): 551-71.

31. Abramson LY, Seligman ME, Teasdale JD. Learned helplessness in humans: critique and reformulation. *Journal of abnormal psychology* 1978; **87**(1): 49.

32. Liu RT, Kleiman EM, Nestor BA, Cheek SM. The Hopelessness Theory of Depression: A Quarter Century in Review. *Clin Psychol (New York)* 2015; **22**(4): 345-65.

33. Beck AT. Cognitive therapy of depression: Guilford press; 1979.

34. Schuch B. Kognitive Triade. Wörterbuch der Psychotherapie: Springer; 2000: 351-2.

35. Gilmer WS, Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, et al. Factors associated with chronic depressive episodes: a preliminary report from the STAR-D project. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2005; **112**(6): 425-33.

36. Kessler RC, Walters EE. Epidemiology of DSM-III-R major depression and minor depression among adolescents and young adults in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Depress Anxiety* 1998; **7**(1): 3-14.

37. Stotland NL. Recovery from Depression. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 2012; **35**(1): 37-49.

38. Solomon DA, Keller MB, Leon AC, et al. Recovery from major depression. A 10-year prospective follow-up across multiple episodes. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 1997; **54**(11): 1001-6.

39. Baune BT, Renger L. Pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions to improve cognitive dysfunction and functional ability in clinical depression – A systematic review. *Psychiatry Research* 2014; **219**(1): 25-50.

40. Godard J, Baruch P, Grondin S, Lafleur MF. Psychosocial and neurocognitive functioning in unipolar and bipolar depression: a 12-month prospective study. *Psychiatry Res* 2012; **196**(1): 145-53.

41. IsHak WW, Mirocha J, Pi S, et al. Patient-reported outcomes before and after treatment of major depressive disorder. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience* 2014; **16**(2): 171-83.

42. Andrews G. Should depression be managed as a chronic disease? *BMJ* 2001; **322**(7283): 419-21.

43. Sheehan DV, Harnett-Sheehan K, Spann ME, Thompson HF, Prakash A. Assessing remission in major depressive disorder and generalized anxiety disorder clinical trials with the discan metric of the Sheehan disability scale. *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* 2011; **26**(2): 75-83.

44. Cambridge OR, Knight MJ, Mills N, Baune BT. The clinical relationship between cognitive impairment and psychosocial functioning in major depressive disorder: A systematic review. *Psychiatry Research* 2018; **269**: 157-71.

45. Ro E, Clark LA. Psychosocial functioning in the context of diagnosis: assessment and theoretical issues. *Psychol Assess* 2009; **21**(3): 313-24.

46. Evans VC, Iverson GL, Yatham LN, Lam RW. The relationship between neurocognitive and psychosocial functioning in major depressive disorder: a systematic review. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* 2014; **75**(12): 0-.

47. Rock PL, Roiser JP, Riedel WJ, Blackwell AD. Cognitive impairment in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med* 2014; **44**(10): 2029-40.

48. Fried EI, Nesse RM. The impact of individual depressive symptoms on impairment of psychosocial functioning. *PLoS One* 2014; **9**(2): e90311.

49. Ro E, Clark LA. Psychosocial functioning in the context of diagnosis: Assessment and theoretical issues. *Psychological Assessment* 2009; **21**(3): 313-24.

50. Trivedi MH, Greer TL. Cognitive dysfunction in unipolar depression: Implications for treatment. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2014; **152-154**: 19-27.

51. Jaeger J, Berns S, Uzelac S, Davis-Conway S. Neurocognitive deficits and disability in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 2006; **145**(1): 39-48.

52. Knight MJ, Air T, Baune BT. The role of cognitive impairment in psychosocial functioning in remitted depression. *J Affect Disord* 2018; **235**: 129-34.

53. Buist-Bouwman MA, Ormel J, De Graaf R, et al. Mediators of the association between depression and role functioning. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 2008; **118**(6): 451-8.

54. Birnbaum HG, Kessler RC, Kelley D, Ben-Hamadi R, Joish VN, Greenberg PE. Employer burden of mild, moderate, and severe major depressive disorder: mental health services utilization and costs, and work performance. *Depression and Anxiety* 2010; **27**(1): 78-89.

55. Naismith SL, Longley WA, Scott EM, Hickie IB. Disability in major depression related to selfrated and objectively-measured cognitive deficits: a preliminary study. *BMC Psychiatry* 2007; **7**(1): 32.

56. Knight MJ, Lyrtzis E, Baune BT. The association of cognitive deficits with mental and physical Quality of Life in Major Depressive Disorder. *Compr Psychiatry* 2020; **97**: 152147.

57. Hirschfeld RM, Montgomery SA, Keller MB, et al. Social functioning in depression: a review. *The Journal of clinical psychiatry* 2000; **61**(4): 0-.

58. Listunova L, Roth C, Bartolovic M, et al. Cognitive Impairment Along the Course of Depression: Non-Pharmacological Treatment Options. *Psychopathology* 2018; **51**(5): 295-305.

59. Breukelaar IA, Erlinger M, Harris A, et al. Investigating the neural basis of cognitive control dysfunction in mood disorders. *Bipolar Disord* 2020; **22**(3): 286-95.

60. Davis MT, DellaGioia N, Matuskey D, et al. Preliminary evidence concerning the pattern and magnitude of cognitive dysfunction in major depressive disorder using cogstate measures. *J Affect Disord* 2017; **218**: 82-5.

61. Lee RS, Hermens DF, Naismith SL, et al. Neuropsychological and functional outcomes in recentonset major depression, bipolar disorder and schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: a longitudinal cohort study. *Transl Psychiatry* 2015; **5**(4): e555.

62. Lee RSC, Hermens DF, Porter MA, Redoblado-Hodge MA. A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in first-episode Major Depressive Disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2012; **140**(2): 113-24.

63. Csukly G, Czobor P, Szily E, Takács B, Simon L. Facial Expression Recognition in Depressed Subjects: The Impact of Intensity Level and Arousal Dimension. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 2009; **197**(2): 98-103.

64. Langenecker SA, Bieliauskas LA, Rapport LJ, Zubieta J-K, Wilde EA, Berent S. Face Emotion Perception and Executive Functioning Deficits in Depression. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology* 2005; **27**(3): 320-33.

65. Gallagher P, Robinson LJ, Gray JM, Porter RJ, Young AH. Neurocognitive function following remission in major depressive disorder: potential objective marker of response? *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2007; **41**(1): 54-61.

66. Air T, Weightman M, Baune B. Symptom severity of depressive symptoms impacts on social cognition performance in current but not remitted major depressive disorder. *Frontiers in Psychology* 2015; **6**(1118).

67. Ladegaard N, Lysaker PH, Larsen ER, Videbech P. A comparison of capacities for social cognition and metacognition in first episode and prolonged depression. *Psychiatry Res* 2014; **220**(3): 883-9.

68. Hasselbalch BJ, Knorr U, Kessing LV. Cognitive impairment in the remitted state of unipolar depressive disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2011; **134**(1): 20-31.

69. Baune BT, Miller R, McAfoose J, Johnson M, Quirk F, Mitchell D. The role of cognitive impairment in general functioning in major depression. *Psychiatry Res* 2010; **176**(2-3): 183-9.

70. Årdal G, Hammar Å. Is impairment in cognitive inhibition in the acute phase of major depression irreversible? Results from a 10-year follow-up study. *Psychol Psychother* 2011; **84**(2): 141-50.

71. Schmid M, Strand M, Ardal G, Lund A, Hammar A. Prolonged impairment in inhibition and semantic fluency in a follow-up study of recurrent major depression. *Arch Clin Neuropsychol* 2011; **26**(7): 677-86.

72. McIntyre RS, Cha DS, Soczynska JK, et al. Cognitive deficits and functional outcomes in major depressive disorder: determinants, substrates, and treatment interventions. *Depress Anxiety* 2013; **30**(6): 515-27.

73. Shilyansky C, Williams LM, Gyurak A, Harris A, Usherwood T, Etkin A. Effect of antidepressant treatment on cognitive impairments associated with depression: a randomised longitudinal study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 2016; **3**(5): 425-35.

74. Majer M, Ising M, Künzel H, et al. Impaired divided attention predicts delayed response and risk to relapse in subjects with depressive disorders. *Psychol Med* 2004; **34**(8): 1453-63.

75. Potter GG, Kittinger JD, Ryan Wagner H, Steffens DC, Ranga Rama Krishnan K. Prefrontal Neuropsychological Predictors of Treatment Remission in Late-Life Depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2004; **29**(12): 2266-71.

76. Dunkin JJ, Leuchter AF, Cook IA, Kasl-Godley JE, Abrams M, Rosenberg-Thompson S. Executive dysfunction predicts nonresponse to fluoxetine in major depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2000; **60**(1): 13-23.

77. DeRubeis R, Hollon S, Amsterdam J, et al. Cognitive Therapy vs Medications in the Treatment of Moderate to Severe Depression. *Archives of general psychiatry* 2005; **62**: 409-16.

78. Wykes T, Huddy V, Cellard C, McGurk SR, Czobor P. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation for schizophrenia: methodology and effect sizes. *Am J Psychiatry* 2011; **168**(5): 472-85.

79. Krabbendam L, Aleman A. Cognitive rehabilitation in schizophrenia: a quantitative analysis of controlled studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* 2003; **169**(3-4): 376-82.

80. McGurk SR, Twamley EW, Sitzer DI, McHugo GJ, Mueser KT. A meta-analysis of cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Am J Psychiatry* 2007; **164**(12): 1791-802.

81. Kurtz MM, Moberg PJ, Gur RC, Gur RE. Approaches to cognitive remediation of neuropsychological deficits in schizophrenia: a review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychology review* 2001; **11**(4).

82. Til Wykes, Ph.D. ,, Vyv Huddy, Ph.D. ,, Caroline Cellard, Ph.D. ,, Susan R. McGurk, Ph.D. , and, Pál Czobor, Ph.D. A Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Remediation for Schizophrenia: Methodology and Effect Sizes. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2011; **168**(5): 472-85.

83. Zuckerman H, Pan Z, Park C, et al. Recognition and treatment of cognitive dysfunction in major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry* 2018: 655.

84. Grinberg A, Egglefield DA, Schiff S, Motter JN, Sneed JR. Computerized Cognitive Training: A Review of Mechanisms, Methodological Considerations, and Application to Research in Depression. *Journal of Cognitive Enhancement* 2021; **5**(3): 359-71.

85. Harvey PD, McGurk SR, Mahncke H, Wykes T. Controversies in Computerized Cognitive Training. *Biological Psychiatry: Cognitive Neuroscience and Neuroimaging* 2018; **3**(11): 907-15.

86. Sohlberg MM, Mateer CA. Cognitive rehabilitation: An integrative neuropsychological approach: Guilford Press; 2001.

87. Koster EHW, Hoorelbeke K, Onraedt T, Owens M, Derakshan N. Cognitive control interventions for depression: A systematic review of findings from training studies. *Clinical Psychology Review* 2017; **53**: 79-92.

88. Siegle GJ, Price RB, Jones NP, Ghinassi F, Painter T, Thase ME. You Gotta Work at It: Pupillary Indices of Task Focus Are Prognostic for Response to a Neurocognitive Intervention for Rumination in Depression. *Clinical Psychological Science* 2014; **2**(4): 455-71.

89. Segrave RA, Arnold S, Hoy K, Fitzgerald PB. Concurrent cognitive control training augments the antidepressant efficacy of tDCS: a pilot study. *Brain Stimul* 2014; **7**(2): 325-31.

90. Lui JH, Marcus DK, Barry CT. Evidence-based apps? A review of mental health mobile applications in a psychotherapy context. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice* 2017; **48**(3): 199.

91. Köhler S, Unger T, Hoffmann S, Mackert A, Ross B, Fydrich T. Dysfunctional cognitions of depressive inpatients and their relationship with treatment outcome. *Compr Psychiatry* 2015; **58**: 50-6.

92. Trapp W, Engel S, Hajak G, Lautenbacher S, Gallhofer B. Cognitive remediation for depressed inpatients: Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* 2016; **50**(1): 46-55.

93. Papageorgiou C, Wells A. Treatment of recurrent major depression with Attention Training. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice* 2000; **7**(4): 407-13.

94. Porter RJ, Bowie CR, Jordan J, Malhi GS. Cognitive remediation as a treatment for major depression: A rationale, review of evidence and recommendations for future research. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 2013; **47**(12): 1165-75.

95. Medalia A, Richardson R. What Predicts a Good Response to Cognitive Remediation Interventions? *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 2005; **31**(4): 942-53.

96. Buonomano DV, Merzenich MM. Cortical plasticity: from synapses to maps. *Annual review of neuroscience* 1998; **21**(1): 149-86.

97. Melissa Fisher PD, Christine Holland BA, Michael M. Merzenich PD, Sophia Vinogradov MD. Using Neuroplasticity-Based Auditory Training to Improve Verbal Memory in Schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2009; **166**(7): 805-11.

98. Guo M, Zhang S, Xu M, Hu X, Yang C, Chen W. [Resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging of first-onset major depressive disorder: analysis of 18 cases]. *Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao* 2014; **34**(9): 1277-81.

99. Ebmeier K, Rose E, Steele D. Cognitive impairment and fMRI in major depression. *Neurotox Res* 2006; **10**(2): 87-92.

100. Zhuo C, Li G, Lin X, et al. The rise and fall of MRI studies in major depressive disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* 2019; **9**(1): 335.

101. Tang S, Li H, Lu L, et al. Anomalous functional connectivity of amygdala subregional networks in major depressive disorder. *Depress Anxiety* 2019; **36**(8): 712-22.

102. Deco G, Kringelbach Morten L. Great Expectations: Using Whole-Brain Computational Connectomics for Understanding Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Neuron* 2014; **84**(5): 892-905.

103. Greicius M. Resting-state functional connectivity in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Current Opinion in Neurology* 2008; **21**(4).

104. Wang L, Dai W, Su Y, et al. Amplitude of low-frequency oscillations in first-episode, treatmentnaive patients with major depressive disorder: a resting-state functional MRI study. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**(10): e48658.

105. Fox MD, Raichle ME. Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2007; **8**(9): 700-11.

106. Bench CJ, Friston KJ, Brown RG, Frackowiak RSJ, Dolan RJ. Regional cerebral blood flow in depression measured by positron emission tomography: the relationship with clinical dimensions. *Psychological Medicine* 1993; **23**(3): 579-90.

107. Townsend JD, Eberhart NK, Bookheimer SY, et al. fMRI activation in the amygdala and the orbitofrontal cortex in unmedicated subjects with major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 2010; **183**(3): 209-17.

108. Wang L, Hermens DF, Hickie IB, Lagopoulos J. A systematic review of resting-state functional-MRI studies in major depression. *J Affect Disord* 2012; **142**(1-3): 6-12.

109. Isaac C, Januel D. Neural correlates of cognitive improvements following cognitive remediation in schizophrenia: a systematic review of randomized trials. *Socioaffective Neuroscience & Psychology* 2016; **6**(1): 30054.

110. Bor J, Brunelin J, d'Amato T, et al. How can cognitive remediation therapy modulate brain activations in schizophrenia? An fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res* 2011; **192**(3): 160-6.

111. Haut KM, Lim KO, MacDonald A. Prefrontal Cortical Changes Following Cognitive Training in Patients with Chronic Schizophrenia: Effects of Practice, Generalization, and Specificity. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2010; **35**(9): 1850-9.

112. Subramaniam K, Luks Tracy L, Fisher M, Simpson Gregory V, Nagarajan S, Vinogradov S. Computerized Cognitive Training Restores Neural Activity within the Reality Monitoring Network in Schizophrenia. *Neuron* 2012; **73**(4): 842-53.

113. Vianin P, Urben S, Magistretti P, Marquet P, Fornari E, Jaugey L. Increased activation in Broca's area after cognitive remediation in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging* 2014; **221**(3): 204-9.

114. Wykes T, Brammer M, Mellers J, et al. Effects on the brain of a psychological treatment: cognitive remediation therapy: functional magnetic resonance imaging in schizophrenia. *Br J Psychiatry* 2002; **181**: 144-52.

115. Habel U, Koch K, Kellermann T, et al. Training of affect recognition in schizophrenia: Neurobiological correlates. *Social Neuroscience* 2010; **5**(1): 92-104.

116. Kral TRA, Schuyler BS, Mumford JA, Rosenkranz MA, Lutz A, Davidson RJ. Impact of short- and long-term mindfulness meditation training on amygdala reactivity to emotional stimuli. *Neuroimage* 2018; **181**: 301-13.

117. Meusel L-AC, Hall GB, Fougere P, McKinnon MC, MacQueen GM. Neural correlates of cognitive remediation in patients with mood disorders. *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging* 2013; **214**(2): 142-52.

118. Pizzagalli DA. Frontocingulate Dysfunction in Depression: Toward Biomarkers of Treatment Response. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2011; **36**(1): 183-206.

119. Jiao Q, Ding J, Lu G, et al. Increased Activity Imbalance in Fronto-Subcortical Circuits in Adolescents with Major Depression. *PLoS One* 2011; **6**(9): e25159.

120. Davidson RJ. Anxiety and affective style: role of prefrontal cortex and amygdala. *Biological Psychiatry* 2002; **51**(1): 68-80.

121. Korgaonkar MS, Grieve SM, Etkin A, Koslow SH, Williams LM. Using standardized fMRI protocols to identify patterns of prefrontal circuit dysregulation that are common and specific to cognitive and emotional tasks in major depressive disorder: first wave results from the iSPOT-D study. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2013; **38**(5): 863-71.

122. Miller EK, Cohen JD. An Integrative Theory of Prefrontal Cortex Function. *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 2001; **24**(1): 167-202.

123. Fassbender C, Simoes-Franklin C, Murphy K, et al. The Role of a Right Fronto-Parietal Network in Cognitive Control. *Journal of Psychophysiology* 2006; **20**(4): 286-96.

124. Bunge SA, Ochsner KN, Desmond JE, Glover GH, Gabrieli JDE. Prefrontal regions involved in keeping information in and out of mind. *Brain* 2001; **124**(10): 2074-86.

125. Chang X, Shen H, Wang L, et al. Altered default mode and fronto-parietal network subsystems in patients with schizophrenia and their unaffected siblings. *Brain Research* 2014; **1562**: 87-99.

126. Salehinejad MA, Ghanavai E, Rostami R, Nejati V. Cognitive control dysfunction in emotion dysregulation and psychopathology of major depression (MD): Evidence from transcranial brain stimulation of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC). *J Affect Disord* 2017; **210**: 241-8.

127. Rajkowska G, Miguel-Hidalgo JJ, Wei J, et al. Morphometric evidence for neuronal and glial prefrontal cell pathology in major depression**See accompanying Editorial, in this issue. *Biological Psychiatry* 1999; **45**(9): 1085-98.

128. Drevets WC, Price JL, Simpson JR, et al. Subgenual prefrontal cortex abnormalities in mood disorders. *Nature* 1997; **386**(6627): 824-7.

129. Murphy FC, Michael A, Sahakian BJ. Emotion modulates cognitive flexibility in patients with major depression. *Psychol Med* 2012; **42**(7): 1373-82.

130. Liotti M, Mayberg HS. The Role of Functional Neuroimaging in the Neuropsychology of Depression. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology* 2001; **23**(1): 121-36.

131. Yue Y, Yuan Y, Hou Z, Jiang W, Bai F, Zhang Z. Abnormal functional connectivity of amygdala in late-onset depression was associated with cognitive deficits. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**(9): e75058.

132. Zeng L-L, Shen H, Liu L, et al. Identifying major depression using whole-brain functional connectivity: a multivariate pattern analysis. *Brain* 2012; **135**(5): 1498-507.

133. Tozzi L, Doolin K, Farrel C, Joseph S, O'Keane V, Frodl T. Functional magnetic resonance imaging correlates of emotion recognition and voluntary attentional regulation in depression: A generalized psycho-physiological interaction study. *J Affect Disord* 2017; **208**: 535-44.

134. Phelps EA, LeDoux JE. Contributions of the Amygdala to Emotion Processing: From Animal Models to Human Behavior. *Neuron* 2005; **48**(2): 175-87.

135. Hooker CI, Bruce L, Fisher M, Verosky SC, Miyakawa A, Vinogradov S. Neural activity during emotion recognition after combined cognitive plus social cognitive training in schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research* 2012; **139**(1): 53-9.

136. Mayer JD, Salovey P, Caruso DR. Mayer-Salovey-Caruso emotional intelligence test. 2007.

137. Biagianti B, Roach BJ, Fisher M, et al. Trait aspects of auditory mismatch negativity predict response to auditory training in individuals with early illness schizophrenia. *Neuropsychiatric Electrophysiology* 2017; **3**(1): 2.

138. Perez VB, Tarasenko M, Miyakoshi M, et al. Mismatch Negativity is a Sensitive and Predictive Biomarker of Perceptual Learning During Auditory Cognitive Training in Schizophrenia. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2017; **42**(11): 2206-13.

139. B. FM, B.W. WJ, L. SR, Gibbon M. Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Clinical Trials Version (SCID-CT). New York: Biometrics Research, New York State Psychiatric Institute. American Psychiatric Publishing Inc. (APPI); 2007.

140. First MB. Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV axis I disorders. *Biometrics Research Department* 1997.

141. Association. AP. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed., text rev.). Washington, DC; 2000.

142. Haas SS. Elucidating the efficacy and response to social cognitive training in recent-onset psychosis [Dissertation]: LMU München; 2019.

143. Nahum M, Fisher M, Loewy R, et al. A novel, online social cognitive training program for young adults with schizophrenia: A pilot study. *Schizophr Res Cogn* 2014; **1**(1): e11-e9.

144. Haas SS, Antonucci LA, Wenzel J, et al. A multivariate neuromonitoring approach to neuroplasticity-based computerized cognitive training in recent onset psychosis. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 2021; **46**(4): 828-35.

145. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown G. Beck depression inventory–II. *Psychological Assessment* 1996.

146. First MB. Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV Axis I disorders SCID-I: Clinician version, scoresheet: American Psychiatric Press; 1997.

147. SAMUEL B. GUZE. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th ed. (DSM-IV). *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1995; **152**(8): 1228-.

148. Hall RC. Global assessment of functioning. A modified scale. *Psychosomatics* 1995; **36**(3): 267-75.

149. Startup M, Jackson MC, Bendix S. The concurrent validity of the Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF). *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 2002; **41**(4): 417-22.

150. Cornblatt BA, Auther AM, Niendam T, et al. Preliminary findings for two new measures of social and role functioning in the prodromal phase of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull* 2007; **33**(3): 688-702.

151. Robert S. Kern PD, Keith H. Nuechterlein PD, Michael F. Green PD, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, Part 2: Co-Norming and Standardization. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2008; **165**(2): 214-20.

152. Nuechterlein KH, Green MF, Kern RS, et al. The MATRICS Consensus Cognitive Battery, part 1: test selection, reliability, and validity. *Am J Psychiatry* 2008; **165**(2): 203-13.

153. Köhler YMLG, Koutsouleris N. Differentiation of Recent Onset Depression Vs. Recent Onset Psychosis Using Pattern Classification Methods on Neuropsychological Data: Diagnostic Performance and Generalizability: Universitätsbibliothek der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität; 2019.

154. Nowicki S, Duke MP. Individual differences in the nonverbal communication of affect: The diagnostic analysis of nonverbal accuracy scale. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior* 1994; **18**(1): 9-35.

155. Wechsler D. The measurement and appraisal of adult intelligence, 4th ed. Baltimore, MD, US: Williams & Wilkins Co; 1958.

156. Rosvold HE, Mirsky AF, Sarason I, Bransome Jr ED, Beck LH. A continuous performance test of brain damage. *Journal of Consulting Psychology* 1956; **20**(5): 343-50.

157. Cornblatt BA, Risch NJ, Faris G, Friedman D, Erlenmeyer-Kimling L. The continuous performance test, identical pairs version (CPT-IP): I. new findings about sustained attention in normal families. *Psychiatry Research* 1988; **26**(2): 223-38.

158. Benton AL. Differential behavioral effects in frontal lobe disease. *Neuropsychologia* 1968; **6**(1): 53-60.

159. Newcombe F. Missile wounds of the brain : a study of psychological deficits: London : Oxford university press; 1969.

160. Rey A. L'examen psychologique dans les cas d'encéphalopathie traumatique. (Les problems.). [The psychological examination in cases of traumatic encepholopathy. Problems.]. *Archives de Psychologie* 1941; **28**: 215-85.

161. Weingartner H, Cohen RM, Murphy DL, Martello J, Gerdt C. Cognitive Processes in Depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1981; **38**(1): 42-7.

162. Hoosain R. Forward and Backward Digit Span in the Languages of the Bilingual. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology* 1979; **135**(2): 263-8.

163. Fink HA, Hemmy LS, MacDonald R, et al. Cognitive Outcomes After Cardiovascular Procedures in Older Adults: A Systematic Review Appendices. 2014.

164. Reitan RM. Validity of the Trail Making Test as an indicator of organic brain damage. *Perceptual and Motor Skills* 1958; **8**: 271-6.

165. Tischler L. PF. Testbesprechung Trail Making Test (TMT). *Zeitschrift für Psychiatrie, Psychologie und Psychotherapie* 2010; **58 (1)**: 79-81.

166. Lani J. Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale—Fourth Edition (WAIS–IV). 2014.

167. Manjón JV, Tohka J, García-Martí G, et al. Robust MRI brain tissue parameter estimation by multistage outlier rejection. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine* 2008; **59**(4): 866-73.

168. Rajapakse JC, Giedd JN, Rapoport JL. Statistical approach to segmentation of single-channel cerebral MR images. *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging* 1997; **16**(2): 176-86.

169. Ashburner J. A fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. *NeuroImage* 2007; **38**(1): 95-113.

170. Power JD, Barnes KA, Snyder AZ, Schlaggar BL, Petersen SE. Spurious but systematic correlations in functional connectivity MRI networks arise from subject motion. *Neuroimage* 2012; **59**(3): 2142-54.

171. Power JD, Mitra A, Laumann TO, Snyder AZ, Schlaggar BL, Petersen SE. Methods to detect, characterize, and remove motion artifact in resting state fMRI. *NeuroImage* 2014; **84**: 320-41.

172. Patel AX, Kundu P, Rubinov M, et al. A wavelet method for modeling and despiking motion artifacts from resting-state fMRI time series. *Neuroimage* 2014; **95**: 287-304.

173. Yan C-G, Cheung B, Kelly C, et al. A comprehensive assessment of regional variation in the impact of head micromovements on functional connectomics. *NeuroImage* 2013; **76**: 183-201.

174. Song XW, Dong ZY, Long XY, et al. REST: a toolkit for resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging data processing. *PLoS One* 2011; **6**(9): e25031.

175. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series B (Methodological)* 1995; **57**(1): 289-300.

176. Spreng RN, Mar RA, Kim ASN. The Common Neural Basis of Autobiographical Memory, Prospection, Navigation, Theory of Mind, and the Default Mode: A Quantitative Meta-analysis. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience* 2009; **21**(3): 489-510.

177. Hanna Keren, Ph.D. ,, Georgia O'Callaghan, Ph.D. ,, Pablo Vidal-Ribas, M.Sc. ,, et al. Reward Processing in Depression: A Conceptual and Meta-Analytic Review Across fMRI and EEG Studies. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2018; **175**(11): 1111-20.

178. Schilbach L, Müller VI, Hoffstaedter F, et al. Meta-analytically informed network analysis of resting state FMRI reveals hyperconnectivity in an introspective socio-affective network in depression. *PLoS One* 2014; **9**(4): e94973-e.

179. Madeo D, Talarico A, Pascual-Leone A, Mocenni C, Santarnecchi E. An evolutionary game theory model of spontaneous brain functioning. *Scientific reports* 2017; **7**(1): 1-11.

180. Matthew Brett J-LA, Romain Valabregue, Jean-Baptiste Poline. Region of interest analysis using an SPM toolbox. *NeuroImage* 2002; **Vol 16, No 2.**(The 8th International Conference on Functional Mapping of the Human Brain).

181. Murthy NV, Mahncke H, Wexler BE, et al. Computerized cognitive remediation training for schizophrenia: An open label, multi-site, multinational methodology study. *Schizophrenia Research* 2012; **139**(1): 87-91.

182. Lewis L, Unkefer EP, O'Neal SK, Crith CJ, Fultz J. Cognitive rehabilitation with patients having persistent, severe psychiatric disabilities. *Psychiatric Rehabilitation Journal* 2003; **26**(4): 325.

183. Choi J, Wang Y, Feng T, Prudic J. Cognitive training to improve memory in individuals undergoing electroconvulsive therapy: Negative findings. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 2017; **92**: 8-14.

184. Woolf C, Lampit A, Shahnawaz Z, et al. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Cognitive Training in Adults with Major Depressive Disorder. *Neuropsychology Review* 2022; **32**(2): 419-37.

185. Bowie CR, Gupta M, Holshausen K, Jokic R, Best M, Milev R. Cognitive Remediation for Treatment-Resistant Depression: Effects on Cognition and Functioning and the Role of Online Homework. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 2013; **201**(8).

186. Mowszowski L, Lampit A, Walton CC, Naismith SL. Strategy-Based Cognitive Training for Improving Executive Functions in Older Adults: a Systematic Review. *Neuropsychology Review* 2016; **26**(3): 252-70.

187. Elisha P. Merriam, B.A. ,, Michael E. Thase, M.D. ,, Gretchen L. Haas, Ph.D. ,, Matcheri S. Keshavan, M.D. , and, John A. Sweeney, Ph.D. Prefrontal Cortical Dysfunction in Depression Determined by Wisconsin Card Sorting Test Performance. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 1999; **156**(5): 780-2.

188. Franke P, Maier W, Hardt J, Frieboes R, Lichtermann D, Hain C. Assessment of frontal lobe functioning in schizophrenia and unipolar major depression. *Psychopathology* 1993; **26**(2): 76-84.

189. Harvey PO, Le Bastard G, Pochon JB, et al. Executive functions and updating of the contents of working memory in unipolar depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 2004; **38**(6): 567-76.

190. Cotrena C, Damiani Branco L, Ponsoni A, Milman Shansis F, Paz Fonseca R. Neuropsychological Clustering in Bipolar and Major Depressive Disorder. *J Int Neuropsychol Soc* 2017; **23**(7): 584-93.

191. Diamond A. Executive Functions. *Annual Review of Psychology* 2013; **64**(1): 135-68.

192. Elgamal S, McKinnon MC, Ramakrishnan K, Joffe RT, MacQueen G. Successful computerassisted cognitive remediation therapy in patients with unipolar depression: a proof of principle study. *Psychological Medicine* 2007; **37**(9): 1229-38.

193. Trapp W, Engel S, Hajak G, Lautenbacher S, Gallhofer B. Cognitive remediation for depressed inpatients: Results of a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 2016; **50**(1): 46-55.

194. Morimoto SS, Wexler BE, Liu J, Hu W, Seirup J, Alexopoulos GS. Neuroplasticity-based computerized cognitive remediation for treatment-resistant geriatric depression. *Nature Communications* 2014; **5**(1): 4579.

195. Kurtz MM, Richardson CL. Social cognitive training for schizophrenia: a meta-analytic investigation of controlled research. *Schizophrenia bulletin* 2012; **38**(5): 1092-104.

196. Scoriels L, Genaro LT, Keffer S, et al. Changes in emotion processing and social cognition with auditory versus visual neuroscience-informed cognitive training in individuals with schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Research* 2022; **241**: 267-74.

197. Montemagni C, Del Favero E, Riccardi C, et al. Effects of Cognitive Remediation on Cognition, Metacognition, and Social Cognition in Patients With Schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry* 2021; **12**: 649737.

198. Nahum M, Fisher M, Loewy R, et al. A novel, online social cognitive training program for young adults with schizophrenia: A pilot study. *Schizophrenia Research: Cognition* 2014; **1**(1): e11-e9.

199. Sacks S, Fisher M, Garrett C, et al. Combining computerized social cognitive training with neuroplasticity-based auditory training in schizophrenia. *Clinical schizophrenia & related psychoses* 2013; **7**(2): 78-86A.

200. Abrams R, Redfield J, Taylor MA. Cognitive Dysfunction in Schizophrenia, Affective Disorder and Organic Brain Disease. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 1981; **139**(3): 190-4.

201. Afshari B, Shiri N, Ghoreishi FS, Valianpour M. Examination and Comparison of Cognitive and Executive Functions in Clinically Stable Schizophrenia Disorder, Bipolar Disorder, and Major Depressive Disorder. *Depression Research and Treatment* 2020; **2020**: 2543541.

202. Harvey PD, Balzer AM, Kotwicki RJ. Training engagement, baseline cognitive functioning, and cognitive gains with computerized cognitive training: A cross-diagnostic study. *Schizophrenia Research: Cognition* 2020; **19**: 100150.

203. Stordal KI, Lundervold AJ, Egeland J, et al. Impairment across executive functions in recurrent major depression. *Nord J Psychiatry* 2004; **58**(1): 41-7.

204. Adolphs R. Cognitive neuroscience of human social behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2003; **4**(3): 165-78.

205. Yang XH, Tian K, Wang DF, et al. Anhedonia correlates with abnormal functional connectivity of the superior temporal gyrus and the caudate nucleus in patients with first-episode drug-naive major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord* 2017; **218**: 284-90.

206. Fitzgerald PB, Laird AR, Maller J, Daskalakis ZJ. A meta-analytic study of changes in brain activation in depression. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2008; **29**(6): 683-95.

207. Raichle ME. The brain's default mode network. *Annu Rev Neurosci* 2015; **38**: 433-47.

208. Jones NP, Fournier JC, Stone LB. Neural correlates of autobiographical problem-solving deficits associated with rumination in depression. *J Affect Disord* 2017; **218**: 210-6.

209. Spreng RN, Schacter DL. Default Network Modulation and Large-Scale Network Interactivity in Healthy Young and Old Adults. *Cerebral Cortex* 2011; **22**(11): 2610-21.

210. Drevets WC. Neuroimaging studies of mood disorders. *Biological Psychiatry* 2000; **48**(8): 813-29.

211. Abbott C, Lemke N, Gopal S, et al. Electroconvulsive Therapy Response in Major Depressive Disorder: A Pilot Functional Network Connectivity Resting State fMRI Investigation. *Front Psychiatry* 2013; **4**(10).

212. Wu XJ, Zeng LL, Shen H, et al. Functional network connectivity alterations in schizophrenia and depression. *Psychiatry Res Neuroimaging* 2017; **263**: 113-20.

213. He Z, Deng W, Li M, et al. Aberrant intrinsic brain activity and cognitive deficit in first-episode treatment-naive patients with schizophrenia. *Psychol Med* 2013; **43**(4): 769-80.

214. Yan H, Tian L, Yan J, et al. Functional and Anatomical Connectivity Abnormalities in Cognitive Division of Anterior Cingulate Cortex in Schizophrenia. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**(9): e45659.

215. Hsu SE, Chen KC, Lee LT, et al. Comparison of cognitive deficits among drug-naive patients with schizophrenia and major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord* 2015; **175**: 133-8.

216. Li L, Su Y-A, Wu Y-K, et al. Eight-week antidepressant treatment reduces functional connectivity in first-episode drug-naïve patients with major depressive disorder. *Human Brain Mapping* 2021; **42**(8): 2593-605.

217. Hsu L-M, Lane TJ, Wu CW, et al. Spontaneous thought-related network connectivity predicts sertraline effect on major depressive disorder. *Brain Imaging and Behavior* 2021; **15**(4): 1705-17.

218. Vasavada MM, Loureiro J, Kubicki A, et al. Effects of Serial Ketamine Infusions on Corticolimbic Functional Connectivity in Major Depression. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging* 2021; **6**(7): 735-44.

219. Pantazatos SP, Yttredahl A, Rubin-Falcone H, et al. Depression-related anterior cingulate prefrontal resting state connectivity normalizes following cognitive behavioral therapy. *Eur Psychiatry* 2020; **63**(1): e37.

220. Phillips ML, Drevets WC, Rauch SL, Lane R. Neurobiology of emotion perception II: implications for major psychiatric disorders. *Biological Psychiatry* 2003; **54**(5): 515-28.

221. Fales CL, Barch DM, Rundle MM, et al. Altered Emotional Interference Processing in Affective and Cognitive-Control Brain Circuitry in Major Depression. *Biological Psychiatry* 2008; **63**(4): 377-84.

222. Shen Z, Jiang L, Yang S, et al. Identify changes of brain regional homogeneity in early and later adult onset patients with first-episode depression using resting-state fMRI. *PLoS One* 2017; **12**(9): e0184712.

223. Cullen KR, Klimes-Dougan B, Vu DP, et al. Neural Correlates of Antidepressant Treatment Response in Adolescents with Major Depressive Disorder. *J Child Adolesc Psychopharmacol* 2016; **26**(8): 705-12.

224. Bulubas L, Padberg F, Mezger E, et al. Prefrontal resting-state connectivity and antidepressant response: no associations in the ELECT-TDCS trial. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2021; **271**(1): 123-34.

225. Subramaniam K, Luks TL, Garrett C, et al. Intensive cognitive training in schizophrenia enhances working memory and associated prefrontal cortical efficiency in a manner that drives long-term functional gains. *NeuroImage* 2014; **99**: 281-92.

226. Schweizer S, Grahn J, Hampshire A, Mobbs D, Dalgleish T. Training the emotional brain: improving affective control through emotional working memory training. *J Neurosci* 2013; **33**(12): 5301-11.

227. Taylor JJ, Kurt HG, Anand A. Resting State Functional Connectivity Biomarkers of Treatment Response in Mood Disorders: A Review. *Front Psychiatry* 2021; **12**.

228. Thomann PA, Wolf RC, Nolte HM, et al. Neuromodulation in response to electroconvulsive therapy in schizophrenia and major depression. *Brain Stimul* 2017; **10**(3): 637-44.

229. Straub J, Metzger CD, Plener PL, Koelch MG, Groen G, Abler B. Successful group psychotherapy of depression in adolescents alters fronto-limbic resting-state connectivity. *J Affect Disord* 2017; **209**: 135-9.

230. Hooker CI, Bruce L, Fisher M, et al. The influence of combined cognitive plus social-cognitive training on amygdala response during face emotion recognition in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res* 2013; **213**(2): 99-107.

231. Amado-Boccara I, Gougoulis N, Poirier Littré MF, Galinowski A, Lôo H. Effects of antidepressants on cognitive functions: A review. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* 1995; **19**(3): 479-93.

232. Sternberg DE, Jarvik ME. Memory Functions in Depression: Improvement With Antidepressant Medication. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1976; **33**(2): 219-24.

233. Bullmore E, Sporns O. Complex brain networks: graph theoretical analysis of structural and functional systems. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 2009; **10**(3): 186-98.

7 Appendix

7.1 List of figures

Figure 1 Visualization of the generation of rsfMRI data23
Figure 2: Description of the study design
Figure 3: Flowchart of the study sample32
Figure 4: Visualization of the Social Ville Program
Figure 5: Visualization of the classification of Maintainers and Improvers by the SPC36
Figure 6: Preprocessing pipeline for rsfMRI data45
Figure 7: Visualization of the generation of seed-based FC correlation maps48
Figure 8: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline GAF-S past month score
Figure 9: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline GF-S score
Figure 10: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on working memory
Figure 11: Boxplot of the significant group effect between Maintainers and Improvers on the baseline score of social cognition
Figure 12: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on social cognition
Figure 13: Boxplot of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on the GF-S score
Figure 14: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the right caudate
Figure 15: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and the SCT and the TAU group on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the right dIPFC
Figure 16: Visualization of the significant interaction effect between the time and Maintainers and Improvers on the rsFC with a 10mm-seed in the left amygdala72

7.2 List of tables

Table 1: General inclusion and exclusion criteria of the study	8
Table 2: Description of the exercises of the Social Ville Program.	4
Table 3: The neuropsychological assessment and the composition of the cognitive domains	s. 9
Table 4: Definition of the primary and the secondary outcome variables. 4	7
Table 5: Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of the SCT and the TAU group5	1
Table 6: Baseline demographic and clinical characteristics of Maintainers and Improvers5	4
Table 7: Baseline and follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and results of the ANCOV	A 7
Table 8: Baseline and follow-up scores of the cognitive domains and results of the ANCOVbetween Maintainers and Improvers.6	A 50
Table 9: Results of the ANCOVA of the psychosocial functioning variables between the SC and the TAU group.	Т З
Table 10: Results of the ANCOVA of the psychosocial functioning variables betwee Maintainers and Improvers. 6	n 5
Table 11: Results of the full factorial ANCOVA of the rsFC between the SCT and the TAI group6	U 7
Table 12: Results of the full factorial ANCOVA of the rsFC between Maintainers and Improvers	s. 1
Table 13: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (SCT group).	7
Table 14: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (TAU group)	0
Table 15: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (Maintainers)	3
Table 16: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (Improvers). 10	5

7.3 Tables of results of the Pearson's correlation tests.

Table 13: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (SCT group). The correlation between the scores of the cognitive domains and the connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions was calculated.

		Social	Cognition	Speed		Workin	g	Attenti	on	Verbal	Learning	Global	Cognition
				of Proc	essing	Memor	У						
		r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)
		FU	FU – T0	FU	FU – T0	FU	FU – T0	FU	FU – T0	FU	FU – T0	FU	FU – T0
Superior	ТО		0.0 (0.99)		-0.4		0.06		-0.04		0.15		-0.01
frontal		_			(0.49)		(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.97)
lobe	FU	0.4		-0.22		-0.49		-0.11		-0.07		-0.22	
(14 17 48)		(0.55)		(0.72)		(0.47)		(0.82)		(0.87)		(0.72)	
	FU – T0	-	-0.03		-0.09		-0.23		0.17		-0.42		-0.17
			(0.94)		(0.91)		(0.78)		(0.80)		(0.53)		(0.80)
Superior	то		-0.1 (0.96)		-0.35		-0.04		-0.1		0.09		-0.14
medial					(0.60)		(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.96)
frontal	FU	0.23		-0.4		-0.16		0.26		-0.29		-0.14	
lobe		(0.72)		(0.55)		(0.80)		(0.72)		(0.72)		(0.82)	

(0 32 56)	FU – T0		-0.03		0.0		-0.24		0.08		-0.36		-0.17
			(0.94)		(>0.99)		(0.78)		(0.91)		(0.63)		(0.80)
Superior	то		0.19		-0.2		0.19		-0.32		0.08		-0.04
temporal			(0.89)		(0.89)		(0.89)		(0.65)		(0.96)		(0.96)
lobe	FU	-0.21		0.26		-0.11		-0.16		0.19		-0.03	
(-51 -20 8)		(0.72)		(0.72)		(0.82)		(0.81)		(0.73)		(0.93)	
	FU – T0	-	-0.32		0.29		-0.23		0.3		0.05		0.02
			(0.68)		(0.74)		(0.78)		(0.74)		(0.91)		(0.96)
Medial	Т0		-0.04		-0.1		-0.23		-0.03		0.09		-0.02
Cingulum			(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.86)		(0.96)		(0.96)		(0.96)
(0 45 45)	FU	-0.13		0.02		0.06		0.23		0.06		0.11	
		(0.82)		(0.95)		(0.87)		(0.72)		(0.87)		(0.82)	
	FU – T0	-	-0.24		0.15		0.05		-0.05		-0.2 (0.80)		-0.21
			(0.78)		(0.80)		(0.91)		(0.91)				(0.80)
Medial	Т0		0.03		0.44		-0.34		0.49		-0.14		0.21
Cingulum			(0.96)		(0.48)		(0.60)		(0.31)		(0.96)		(0.88)
(12 24 44)	FU	-0.06		-0.22		-0.2		-0.01		0.2		-0.14	
		(0.87)		(0.72)		(0.72)		(0.96)		(0.72)		(0.82)	
	FU – T0	-	-0.2 (0.80)		-0.5		0.05		-0.56		-0.13		-0.51
					(0.28)		(0.91)		(0.21)		(0.85)		(0.28)

_

Precuneus	ТО		-0.1 (0.96)		-0.37		-0.11		-0.21		0.06		-0.18
(15 -53 41)					(0.58)		(0.96)		(0.88)		(0.96)		(0.89)
	FU	-0.06		0.33		0.25		0.37		-0.26		0.28	
		(0.87)		(0.72)		(0.72)		(0.62)		(0.72)		(0.72)	
	FU – T0		-0.17		0.16		-0.32		0.24		-0.34		-0.17
			(0.80)		(0.80)		(0.68)		(0.78)		(0.63)		(0.80)

Table 14: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (TAU group). The correlation between the scores of cognitive domains and the connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions was calculated.

		Social		Speed		Workin	g memory	Attentio	on	Verbal	learning	Global	Cognition
		Cogniti	on	of Proce	ssing								
		r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FDR	l-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)	r (p FD	R-corr.)
		FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0
Superior	Т0		0.21		0.0		0.34		-0.13		-0.35		0.03
frontal lobe			(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)
(14 17 48)	FU	0.03		-0.16		-0.37		-0.29		0.16		-0.24	
		(0.95)		(0.84)		(0.60)		(0.71)		(0.84)		(0.75)	
	FU-T0	_	-0.11		0.08		-0.07		0.43		0.14		0.22
			(0.98)		(0.98)		(0.98)		(0.69)		(0.98)		(0.96)
Superior	Т0		-0.16		0.15		0.22		-0.01		-0.26		-0.08
medial			(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)
frontal lobe	FU	-0.26		-0.03		-0.36		0.03		0.21		-0.24	
(0 32 56)		(0.75)		(0.95)		(0.60)		(0.95)		(0.79)		(0.75)	
	FU-T0	_	-0.04		-0.04		-0.07		0.5		0.28		0.3
			(0.98)		(0.98)		(0.98)		(0.53)		(0.89)		(0.87)

Superior	Т0		-0.23		0.46		0.06		-0.13		-0.11		-0.03
temporal		_	(0.99)		(0.89)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)
lobe	FU	-0.35		0.15		-0.12		0.19		0.14		-0.1	
(-51 -20 8)		(0.60)		(0.86)		(0.86)		(0.80)		(0.86)		(0.88)	
	FU-T0		-0.02		-0.09		-0.11		0.21		-0.04		0.0
			(0.99)		(0.98)		(0.98)		(0.96)		(0.98)		(>0.99)
Medial	Т0		-0.65		0.0		0.09		0.08		0.14		-0.3
Cingulum			(0.40)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)
(0 45 45)	FU	-0.09		-0.13		-0.55		-0.13		-0.07		-0.41	
		(0.88)		(0.86)		(0.36)		(0.86)		(0.92)		(0.60)	
	FU-T0	_	0.33		-0.12		-0.53		0.2		-0.18		0.05
			(0.76)		(0.98)		(0.41)		(0.96)		(0.98)		(0.98)
Medial	Т0		-0.24		-0.02		-0.08		0.34		0.17		0.04
Cingulum													
			(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)		(0.99)
(12 24 44)	FU	-0.36	(0.99)	-0.07	(0.99)	-0.53	(0.99)	-0.29	(0.99)	0.06	(0.99)	-0.56	(0.99)
(12 24 44)	FU	-0.36 (0.60)	(0.99)	-0.07 (0.92)	(0.99)	-0.53 (0.36)	(0.99)	-0.29 (0.71)	(0.99)	0.06 (0.92)	(0.99)	-0.56 (0.36)	(0.99)
(12 24 44)	FU FU-T0	-0.36 (0.60)	(0.99) -0.36	-0.07 (0.92)	(0.99) 0.36	-0.53 (0.36)	(0.99) 0.04	-0.29 (0.71)	(0.99) -0.43	0.06 (0.92)	(0.99) -0.21	-0.56 (0.36)	(0.99) -0.35
(12 24 44)	FU FU-T0	-0.36 (0.60)	(0.99) -0.36 (0.76)	-0.07 (0.92)	(0.99) 0.36 (0.76)	-0.53 (0.36)	(0.99) 0.04 (0.98)	-0.29 (0.71)	(0.99) -0.43 (0.69)	0.06 (0.92)	(0.99) -0.21 (0.96)	-0.56 (0.36)	(0.99) -0.35 (0.76)
(12 24 44) Precuneus	FU FU-T0 T0	-0.36 (0.60)	(0.99) -0.36 (0.76) 0.02	-0.07 (0.92)	(0.99) 0.36 (0.76) 0.07	-0.53 (0.36)	(0.99) 0.04 (0.98) 0.38	-0.29 (0.71)	(0.99) -0.43 (0.69) -0.17	0.06 (0.92)	(0.99) -0.21 (0.96) 0.13	-0.56 (0.36)	(0.99) -0.35 (0.76) 0.12
(12 24 44) Precuneus	FU FU-T0 T0	- -0.36 (0.60) -	(0.99) -0.36 (0.76) 0.02 (0.99)	-0.07 (0.92)	(0.99) 0.36 (0.76) 0.07 (0.99)	-0.53 (0.36)	(0.99) 0.04 (0.98) 0.38 (0.99)	-0.29 (0.71)	(0.99) -0.43 (0.69) -0.17 (0.99)	0.06 (0.92)	(0.99) -0.21 (0.96) 0.13 (0.99)	-0.56 (0.36)	(0.99) -0.35 (0.76) 0.12 (0.99)

(15 -53 41)	FU	0.23	-0.35	-0.44	-0.39	-0.01	-0.32
		(0.78)	(0.60)	(0.60)	(0.60)	(0.98)	(0.69)
	FU-T0	0.04	-0.13	-0.46	0.53	-0.16	0.07
		(0.98)	(0.98)	(0.66)	(0.41)	(0.98)	(0.98)

_

		Social C	Cognition	Speed		Working	g	Attentio	n	Verbal I	earning	Global (Cognition
				of Proce	essing	memory	/						
		r (p FDł	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)	r (p FDI	R-corr.)	r (p FDI	R-corr.)	r (p FDI	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)
		FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0
Medial frontal	Т0		-0.28		-0.24		-0.4		-0.23		-0.05		-0.35
lobe			(0.70)		(0.75)		(0.53)		(0.75)		(0.91)		(0.61)
(-36 18 45)	FU	0.44		-0.46		-0.66		-0.57		0.16		-0.53	
		(0.38)		(0.38)		(0.22)		(0.33)		(0.78)		(0.38)	
	FU-T0	-	0.65		0.14		0.59		-0.32		0.49		0.43
			(0.23)		(0.81)		(0.28)		(0.56)		(0.42)		(0.44)
Superior	Т0		-0.32		0.1 (0.91)		-0.63		-0.08		-0.51		-0.49
frontal lobe			(0.62)				(0.27)		(0.91)		(0.53)		(0.53)
(2 63 18)	FU	-0.08		-0.56		-0.18		0.1		0.08		-0.25	
		(0.85)		(0.33)		(0.76)		(0.85)		(0.85)		(0.63)	
	FU-T0	-	0.1 (0.85)		-0.36		0.34		-0.29		0.45		0.09
					(0.50)		(0.53)		(0.59)		(0.43)		(0.85)

Table 15: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (Maintainers). The correlation between the scores of cognitive domains and the connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions was calculated.

Medial frontal lobe	Т0		0.04 (0.91)		0.42 (0.53)		0.19 (0.78)		0.44 (0.53)		-0.41 (0.53)		0.15 (0.84)
(-35 18 45)	FU	0.33		-0.68		-0.64		-0.15		-0.26		-0.7	
		(0.53)		(0.22)		(0.22)		(0.78)		(0.63)		(0.22)	
	FU-T0		0.24 (0.68)		-0.43 (0.44)		-0.08 (0.85)		-0.75 (0.17)		0.38 (0.47)		-0.22 (0.68)

Table 16: Results of the Pearson's correlation test (Improvers). The correlation between the scores of cognitive domains and the connectivity values of the global maxima of all regions that showed a significant FC with the seed regions was calculated.

		Social C	Cognition	Speed		Working	g memory	Attentio	n	Verbal I	earning	Global (Cognition
				of Proce	essing								
		r (p FDI	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)	r (p FDF	R-corr.)
		FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0	FU	FU-T0
Medial	Т0		-0.38		-0.34		-0.01		-0.48		0.13		-0.39
frontal lobe			(0.65)		(0.70)		(0.98)		(0.53)		(0.85)		(0.65)
(-36 18 45)	FU	-0.48		0.19		-0.45		-0.24		0.4		-0.47	
		(0.64)		(0.86)		(0.64)		(0.80)		(0.64)		(0.64)	
	FU-T0	_	0.25		0.42		0.47		0.2		0.37		0.32
			(0.66)		(0.52)		(0.49)		(0.70)		(0.57)		(0.63)
Superior	Т0		-0.33		-0.65		-0.49		-0.65		-0.15		-0.59
frontal lobe			(0.70)		(0.33)		(0.53)		(0.33)		(0.83)		(0.37)
(2 63 18)	FU	-0.62		-0.04		-0.38		-0.57		0.42		-0.77	
		(0.64)		(>0.99)		(0.64)		(0.64)		(0.64)		(0.37)	
	FU-T0	_	0.37		0.63		0.48		0.27		0.24		0.44
			(0.57)		(0.35)		(0.49)		(0.66)		(0.66)		(0.50)

Medial	то		-0.25		0.32		-0.19		0.16		0.19		0.08
frontal lobe			(0.82)		(0.70)		(0.83)		(0.83)		(0.83)		(0.92)
(-35 18 45)	FU	-0.39		-0.33		-0.09		0.19		0.58		-0.17	
		(0.64)		(0.70)		(0.96)		(0.86)		(0.64)		(0.87)	
	FU-T0	-	-0.35		-0.47		-0.24		-0.62		-0.26		-0.56
			(0.58)		(0.49)		(0.66)		(0.35)		(0.66)		(0.40)

8 Publication of results

To date, none of the results of this study have been published.